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based on the total shares issued of 8,425,981,156
Shares  are under PCD Nominee Corporation (Filipino)
Shares are under PCD Nominee Corporation (Filipino)



Operating revenue 



Operating Expenses 



Interest Income 

Interest Expense 

As of December 31, 2017 vs. December 31, 2016 





Notes:

(a) Current Ratio:  This ratio is obtained by dividing the Current Assets of the Company by its Current liabilities. This ratio is used as a test of the Company’s 

liquidity.

(b) Liability-to-equity ratio:  This ratio is obtained by dividing the Company’s Total Liabilities by its Total Equity. The ratio reveals the proportion of debt 

and equity a company is using to finance its business. It also measures a company’s borrowing capacity. 

(c) Interest coverage:  This ratio is obtained by dividing earnings before interest, taxes depreciation and amortization (EBITDA) by the total interest paid. 

This ratio shows whether a company is earning enough profits before interest to pay its interest cost comfortably.  

(d) Return on assets: This ratio is obtained by dividing the Company’s net income (net of income from acquisition of subsidiary) by its total assets. This 

measures the Company’s earnings in relation to all of the resources it had at its disposal.

(e) Return on equity:  This ratio is obtained by dividing the Company’s net income (net of income from acquisition of subsidiary) by its total equity.  This 

measures the rate of return on the ownership interest of the Company’s stockholders.

Because there are various calculation methods for the performance indicators above, the Company’s presentation of such may not be comparable to similarly 

titled measures used by other companies. 







Operating revenue 

Operating Expenses 



Interest Income 

Interest Expense 



As of December 31, 2016 vs. December 31, 2015 



Notes:

(f) Current Ratio:  This ratio is obtained by dividing the Current Assets of the Company by its Current liabilities. This ratio is used as a test of the Company’s 

liquidity.

(g) Liability-to-equity ratio:  This ratio is obtained by dividing the Company’s Total Liabilities by its Total Equity. The ratio reveals the proportion of debt 

and equity a company is using to finance its business. It also measures a company’s borrowing capacity. 

(h) Interest coverage:  This ratio is obtained by dividing earnings before interest, taxes depreciation and amortization (EBITDA) by the total interest paid. 

This ratio shows whether a company is earning enough profits before interest to pay its interest cost comfortably.  

(i) Return on assets: This ratio is obtained by dividing the Company’s net income (net of income from acquisition of subsidiary) by its total assets. This 

measures the Company’s earnings in relation to all of the resources it had at its disposal.

(j) Return on equity:  This ratio is obtained by dividing the Company’s net income (net of income from acquisition of subsidiary) by its total equity.  This 

measures the rate of return on the ownership interest of the Company’s stockholders.

Because there are various calculation methods for the performance indicators above, the Company’s presentation of such may not be comparable to similarly 

titled measures used by other companies. 









(In P Millions with VAT) 

SGV & Company do not have any direct or indirect interest in the Company. 



 Business Experience of the named directors and officers covers the past five (5) years.

Chairman

Director and President, 

Director

Managing Director



Director

 Independent Director

Independent Director

Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer,

Compliance Officer and Corporate Secretary



The total annual compensation paid to the above-named officers and directors was paid in cash. The annual compensation includes the 
basic salary, the mid-year and 13th month bonus.   



1Based on the total issued and outstanding shares (common and preferred) of 10,775,981,156 as of December 31, 2017 







To be disclosed separately. 



January 5, 2017 

April 5, 2017 

May 2, 2017 

May 15, 2017 

May 17, 2017 

June 19, 2017 

June 20, 2017 

July 4, 2017 

August 11, 2017 

August 31, 2017 

September 27, 2017 

November 10, 2017 

November 10, 2017 



November 10, 2017 

November 21, 2017 

November 22, 2017 

December 18, 2017 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

The Stockholders and the Board of Directors
Starmalls, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Lower Ground Floor, Building B
EVIA Lifestyle Center, Vista City
Daanghari, Almanza II, Las Piñas City

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Starmalls, Inc. and its subsidiaries (the Group),
which comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as at December 31, 2017 and 2016, and
the consolidated statements of comprehensive income, consolidated statements of changes in equity and
consolidated statements of cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2017,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects,
the consolidated financial position of the Group as at December 31, 2017 and 2016, and its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2017 in accordance with Philippine Financial Reporting Standards (PFRSs).

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audits in accordance with Philippine Standards on Auditing (PSAs).  Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.  We are independent of the Group in
accordance with the Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants in the Philippines (Code of Ethics)
together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial
statements in the Philippines, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with
these requirements and the Code of Ethics.  We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period.  These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.  For each matter below, our
description of how our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report, including in relation to these matters.
Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of
the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements.  The results of our audit
procedures, including the procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for our
audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

SyCip Gorres Velayo & Co.
6760 Ayala Avenue
1226 Makati City
Philippines

Tel: (632) 891 0307
Fax: (632) 819 0872
ey.com/ph

BOA/PRC Reg. No. 0001,
   December 14, 2015, valid until December 31, 2018
SEC Accreditation No. 0012-FR-4 (Group A),
   November 10, 2015, valid until November 9, 2018

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited
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Valuation of receivable from tenants

As of December 31, 2017, receivables from tenants arising from the Group’s leasing operations represent
11.31% of the total assets.  The appropriateness of provision for credit losses for receivables from tenants
is a key area of judgment.  The Group determines the provision for credit losses on an individual basis for
individually significant receivables, and collectively for receivables that are not individually significant.
The identification of impairment and the determination of the recoverable amount involve various
assumptions and factors.  This includes the assessment of lessee’s current financial condition, payment
history, and estimated future cash flows.  The use of different assumptions could result to significantly
different estimates to provision for credit losses.  The disclosure in relation to provision for credit losses
on receivables from tenants are disclosed in Notes 9 and 27.

Audit Response

We obtained an understanding of the Group’s credit policy and impairment process over receivables from
tenants and tested the relevant controls.  For specific impairment testing of individually significant
receivables, we tested the assumptions underlying the impairment calculation by assessing whether the
forecasted cash flows are based on the lessee’s current financial condition and checking the lessee’s
payment history including payment made subsequent to year end.  For the collective impairment testing,
we tested the groupings of the receivables based on credit risk characteristics and age of receivables and
compared the loss rate to historical data.  We also re-performed the calculation of the provision for credit
losses.

Other Information

Management is responsible for the other information.  The other information comprises the information
included in the SEC Form 20-IS (Definitive Information Statement), SEC Form 17-A and Annual Report
for the year ended December 31, 2017, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.  The SEC Form 20-IS, SEC Form 17-A and Annual Report for the year ended
December 31, 2017 are expected to be made available to us after the date of this auditor’s report.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we will not
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audits of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the
other information identified above when it becomes available and, in doing so, consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audits, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated
Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial
statements in accordance with PFRSs, and for such internal control as management determines is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited
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In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion.  Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with PSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with PSAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional skepticism throughout the audit.  We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.  The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.  If
we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion.  Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor’s report.  However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease
to continue as a going concern.

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited
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Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the audit.  We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related
safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that
were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters.  We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Cyril Jasmin B.
Valencia.

SYCIP GORRES VELAYO & CO.

Cyril Jasmin B. Valencia
Partner
CPA Certificate No. 90787
SEC Accreditation No. 1229-AR-1 (Group A),
 May 12, 2015, valid until May 11, 2018
Tax Identification No. 162-410-623
BIR Accreditation No. 08-001998-74-2018,
 February 26, 2018, valid until February 25, 2021
PTR No. 6621337, January 9, 2018, Makati City

March 27, 2018

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited
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STARMALLS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

December 31
2017 2016

ASSETS

Current Assets
Cash (Notes 7 and 27) P=572,361,719 P=428,235,799
Available-for-sale financial assets (Notes 8, 26 and 27) 34,551,067 31,588,143
Receivables (Notes 9 and 27) 6,812,971,107 4,054,246,784
Receivable from ultimate parent company (Notes 23 and 27) 2,154,546,538 1,960,071,562
Receivables from other related parties (Notes 23 and 27) 2,600,010,624 1,152,597,515
Real estate properties for sale (Note 10) 322,090,433 323,112,576
Prepayments and other current assets (Note 11) 1,472,786,408 1,402,924,207

Total Current Assets 13,969,317,896 9,352,776,586

Noncurrent Assets
Available-for-sale financial assets - net of current portion (Notes 8 and 27) 4,509,236,373 3,726,634,834
Receivables - net of current portion (Notes 9 and 27) 11,730,831 10,428,875
Receivables from other related parties (Notes 23 and 27) 168,092,001
Property and equipment (Note 12) 51,842,671 51,791,296
Investment properties (Note 13) 25,580,740,587 22,028,469,478
Other noncurrent assets (Note 11) 1,039,440,544 652,507,309

Total Noncurrent Assets 31,361,083,007 26,469,831,792
P=45,330,400,903 P=35,822,608,378

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

Current Liabilities
Trade and other payables (Note 15) P=1,916,868,622 P=1,864,432,619
Payable to parent company (Notes 23 and 27) 11,699,707,437 4,857,332,925
Payables to other related parties (Notes 23 and 27) 214,663,688 391,593,844
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings (Notes 16, 26 and 27) 1,601,982,977 1,596,831,058
Liability for purchased land (Notes 14 and 27) 577,697,753 79,644,720
Income tax payable 38,207,472 38,800,111
Dividends payable (Note 18) 275,118 313,216

Total Current Liabilities 16,049,403,067 8,828,948,493

Noncurrent Liabilities
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings - net of current portion
  (Notes 16, 26 and 27) 5,927,684,889 7,048,991,583
Liability for purchased land - net of current portion (Notes 14 and 27) 244,714,560 222,641,520
Refundable deposits 174,694,272 128,552,216
Pension liabilities (Note 19) 50,766,213 40,418,438
Deferred tax liabilities - net (Note 22) 1,530,354,705 853,217,192
Other noncurrent liabilities (Note 17) 732,370,782 615,009,673

Total Noncurrent Liabilities 8,660,585,421 8,908,830,622
Total Liabilities P=24,709,988,488 P=17,737,779,115

(Forward)
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December 31
2017 2016

Equity (Note 18)
Equity attributable to equity holders of the Parent Company:

Capital stock P=8,449,481,156 P=8,449,481,156
Additional paid-in capital 6,389,314,354 6,389,314,354
Retained earnings 6,433,402,872 4,703,708,769
Other comprehensive income (763,856,172) (1,535,612,600)

20,508,342,210 18,006,891,679
Non-controlling interest 112,070,205 77,937,584

Total Equity 20,620,412,415 18,084,829,263
P=45,330,400,903 P=35,822,608,378

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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STARMALLS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Years Ended December 31
2017 2016 2015

REVENUE
Rental income (Note 13) P=4,798,595,982 P=4,077,936,489 P=2,380,179,636
Parking fees 117,104,544 105,615,365 121,746,680
Other operating income (Note 20) 381,491,995 295,659,510 273,668,177

5,297,192,521 4,479,211,364 2,775,594,493

COSTS AND EXPENSES
Depreciation (Notes 12 and 13) 950,118,521 717,910,218 479,507,582
Light and power 386,901,518 340,473,841 219,495,777
Outside services 279,000,699 251,018,048 202,937,734
Salaries and employee benefits (Note 19) 186,123,331 169,157,974 130,668,569
Rentals 134,036,615 112,428,601 107,286,569
Taxes and licenses 130,868,076 144,198,111 69,515,732
Repairs and maintenance 96,241,381 85,352,599 58,033,061
Advertising and promotions 48,833,765 49,083,978 30,071,874
Insurance 28,089,429 20,503,912 15,077,636
Professional fees 21,593,055 11,506,392 27,254,964
Other operating expenses (Note 20) 70,578,985 46,116,693 99,212,961

2,332,385,375 1,947,750,367 1,439,062,459

OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE)
Interest income (Notes 7, 8, 11 and 21) 24,792,430 11,616,221 23,917,351
Interest expense (Notes 14, 16 and 21) (44,644,940) (300,917,401) (50,529,983)
Loss on disposal of investments in shares of stock (222,772)

(19,852,510) (289,301,180) (26,835,404)

INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAX 2,944,954,636 2,242,159,817 1,309,696,630

PROVISION FOR INCOME TAX (Note 22) 883,919,646 690,669,472 405,247,851

NET INCOME P=2,061,034,990 P=1,551,490,345 P=904,448,779

NET INCOME ATTRIBUTABLE TO:
Equity holders of the Parent Company P=2,039,770,209 P=1,537,164,566 P=830,509,357
Non-controlling interest 21,264,781 14,325,779 73,939,422
NET INCOME P=2,061,034,990 P=1,551,490,345 P=904,448,779

BASIC/DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE
(Note 24) P=0.242 P=0.182 P=0.117

(Forward)
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Years Ended December 31
2017 2016 2015

NET INCOME    P=2,061,034,990 P=1,551,490,345 P=904,448,779

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
Other comprehensive income (loss) to be reclassified

to profit or loss in subsequent periods:
Fair value gain on available-for-sale financial

assets reclassified to profit or loss (Note 8) (16,735,567)
Unrealized fair value gain (loss) on available-for-

sale financial assets (Note 8) 785,564,463 (207,773,571) (1,472,596,174)
Other comprehensive income (loss) not to be

reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent
periods:
Remeasurement gain (loss) on pension liabilities -

net of tax (Note 19) (940,195) 12,432,783 937,904
784,624,268 (195,340,788) (1,488,393,837)

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) P=2,845,659,258 P=1,356,149,557 (P=583,945,058)

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
ATTRIBUTABLE TO:

Equity holders of the Parent Company P=2,811,526,637 P=1,345,116,459 (P=515,056,480)
Non-controlling interest 34,132,621 11,033,098 (68,888,578)

P=2,845,659,258 P=1,356,149,557 (P=583,945,058)

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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STARMALLS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Years Ended December 31
2017 2016 2015

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Income before income tax P=2,944,954,636 P=2,242,159,817 P=1,309,696,630
Adjustments for:

Depreciation (Notes 12 and 13) 950,118,521 717,910,218 479,507,582
Interest expense (Note 21) 44,644,940 300,917,401 50,529,983
Retirement expense (Note 19) 9,004,639 7,799,006 9,348,615
Interest income (Note 21) (24,792,430) (11,616,221) (23,917,351)
Loss on asset retirement (Note 12) 42,395
Loss on sale of AFS financial assets 222,772
Unrealized foreign currency gains - net (839,167)

Operating income before working capital changes 3,923,930,306 3,257,212,616 1,824,549,064
Decrease (increase) in:

Receivables (2,763,365,467) (2,122,681,488) (916,341,096)
Real estate properties for sale 1,022,143 270,745 58,055
Prepayments and other assets (456,795,436) (441,774,855) (507,680,864)

Increase (decrease) in:
Trade and other payables (408,535,875) 100,694,708 599,273,981
Refundable deposits 46,142,056 33,949,678 21,999,736
Other noncurrent liabilities 117,361,109 33,169,961 106,142,087

Net cash flows generated from operations 459,758,836 860,841,365 1,128,000,963
Interest received 28,131,618 13,402,383 21,213,379
Interest paid (including capitalized borrowing cost) (441,987,125) (645,307,621) (203,432,843)
Income taxes paid (207,777,713) (183,926,571) (155,114,557)
Net cash flows provided by (used in) operating activities (161,874,384) 45,009,556 790,666,942
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Decrease (increase) in receivables from related parties (1,809,980,086) 630,295,504 445,431,164
Proceeds from disposal of AFS financial assets

(Note 8) 295,990,228
Acquisitions of:

Property and equipment (Note 12) (26,524,823) (14,857,190) (99,324,307)
Investment property (Note 13) (3,595,647,727) (3,192,820,550) (6,792,777,302)
AFS financial assets (Notes 8 and 29) (344,762,099)

Increase in liability for purchased land (Note 29) 520,126,073 35,327,346 360,381,060
Net cash flows used in investing activities (4,912,026,563) (2,542,054,890) (6,135,061,256)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from:

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings (Note 16) 500,000,000 7,273,621,392
Reissuance of treasury shares 344,762,099

Payments of:
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings (Note 16) (1,637,303,285) (2,128,584,388) (1,469,250,764)
Dividends declared (310,114,204) (181,120,497)

Increase (decrease) in payables to related parties 6,665,444,356 4,226,932,745 (1,757,800,939)
Net cash flows provided by financing activities 5,218,026,867 1,917,227,860 4,391,331,788
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash 839,167
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH 144,125,920 (579,817,474) (952,223,359)
CASH AT BEGINNING OF YEAR 428,235,799 1,008,053,273 1,960,276,632
CASH AT END OF YEAR (Note 7) P=572,361,719 P=428,235,799 P=1,008,053,273

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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STARMALLS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Corporate Information

Starmalls, Inc. (the Parent Company) was incorporated in the Republic of the Philippines and duly
registered with the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) on October 16, 1969, originally to
pursue mineral exploration.  After obtaining Philippine SEC approval on November 10, 2004, the
Parent Company changed its primary business to holding investments in shares of stock and real
estate.

The Parent Company is the holding company of the Starmalls Group (the Group) which is engaged in
development and leasing of retail malls and Business Process Outsourcing (“BPO”) commercial
centers.  The Group has wholly owned subsidiary, Masterpiece Asia Properties, Inc. (MAPI) and a
98.36% owned subsidiary, Manuela Corporation (MC or Manuela).

On November 10, 2015, Vista Land & Lifescapes, Inc. (VLLI or Vista Land) signed an agreement
with the existing shareholders of the Group to acquire 88.34% or 7,443.19 million shares of the
outstanding capital stock of the Parent Company for a total consideration of P=33,537.36 million.

Starmalls and its subsidiaries became subsidiaries of Vista Land as at December 31, 2015.

Both Vista Land and Starmalls Group are entities under common control of Fine Properties, Inc.
(the Ultimate Parent Company or Fine).  Accordingly, Vista Land accounted for the acquisition of the
Group under the pooling-of-interest method of accounting.

The Parent Company is 88.34% owned by Vista Land while 7.50% is owned by Land & Houses
Public Company Limited and 4.16% is owned by the public.  The Parent Company’s shares of stock
are listed at the Philippine Stock Exchange (PSE).

In a meeting held on May 3, 2016 and June 27, 2016, the Board of Directors (BOD) and the
Stockholders, respectively, ratified and approved the amendments of Article III and Article IV of the
Articles of Incorporation to extend the corporate term for another 50 years from October 15, 2019 and
to change the registered office and principal place of business of the Parent Company.  On September
30, 2016, the Amended Articles of Incorporation was approved by the Philippine SEC.

The Parent Company’s new registered office and principal place of business is located at Lower
Ground Floor, Building B, EVIA Lifestyle Center, Vista City, Daanghari, Almanza II, Las Piñas City.

2. Basis of Preparation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared on a historical
cost basis, except for the available-for-sale (AFS) financial assets which have been measured at fair
value.  The consolidated financial statements are presented in Philippine Peso (P=) which is the
functional and presentation currency of the Parent Company, and all amounts are rounded to the
nearest Philippine Peso unless otherwise indicated.

Statement of Compliance
The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in compliance with Philippine
Financial Reporting Standards (PFRS).
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Basis of Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Parent Company and
its subsidiaries as at December 31, 2017 and 2016, and for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2017.

Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement
with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee.
Specifically, the Group controls an investee if and only if the Group has:

Power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant
activities of the investee)
Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee, and
The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights result in control. To support this
presumption and when the Group has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an
investee, the Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power
over an investee, including:

The contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee
Rights arising from other contractual arrangements
The Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights

The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that
there are changes to one or more of the three elements of control.  Consolidation of a subsidiary
begins when the Group obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control
of the subsidiary.  Assets, liabilities, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of
during the year are included or excluded in the consolidated financial statements from the date the
Group gains control or until the date the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of Other Comprehensive Income (OCI) are attributed to the equity
holders of the Parent Company and to the noncontrolling interests (NCI), even if this results in the
NCI having a deficit balance.  The consolidated financial statements are prepared using uniform
accounting policies for like transactions and other similar events.  When necessary, adjustments are
made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with the
Group’s accounting policies.  All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash
flows relating to transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an
equity transaction.  If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognizes the related assets
(including goodwill), liabilities, non-controlling interest and other components of equity, while any
resultant gain or loss is recognized in profit or loss.  Any investment retained is recognized at fair
value.

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Parent Company and the
following subsidiaries.  The voting rights held by the Group in these subsidiaries are in proportion of
their ownership interest.

Percentage of Ownership
2017 2016 2015

Manuela Corporation 98.36% 98.36% 98.36%
Masterpiece Asia Properties, Inc. 100.00 100.00 100.00



- 3 -

*SGVFS029865*

Non-controlling Interests
Non-controlling interests represent the portion of profit or loss and net assets not owned, directly or
indirectly, by the Group.

Non-controlling interests are presented separately in the consolidated statement of income,
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, and within equity in the consolidated statement of
financial position, separately from parent shareholder’s equity.  Any losses applicable to the
noncontrolling interests are allocated against the interests of the non-controlling interest even if this
results to the non-controlling interest having a deficit balance.  The acquisition of an additional
ownership interest in a subsidiary without a change of control is accounted for as an equity
transaction.  Any excess or deficit of consideration paid over the carrying amount of the non-
controlling interest is recognized in equity of the parent in transactions where the
non-controlling interest are acquired or sold without loss of control.

As at December 31, 2017 and 2016, percentage of non-controlling interests pertaining to Manuela
Corporation amounted to 1.64%.  The voting rights held by the non-controlling interest are in
proportion of their ownership interest.

The Parent Company and the subsidiaries are all domiciled and incorporated in the Philippines and
are in the business of leasing commercial spaces and buildings.

3. Changes in Accounting Policies

The Group applied for the first time certain pronouncements, which are effective for annual periods
beginning on or after January 1, 2017.  Unless otherwise indicated, the adoption of the new
accounting standards will not impact the consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to PFRS 12, Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities, Clarification of the Scope of
the Standard (Part of Annual Improvements to PFRSs 2014 - 2016 Cycle)

The amendments clarify that the disclosure requirements in PFRS 12, other than those relating to
summarized financial information, apply to an entity’s interest in a subsidiary, a joint venture or
an associate (or a portion of its interest in a joint venture or an associate) that is classified (or
included in a disposal group that is classified) as held for sale.

Adoption of these amendments did not have any impact on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements because it does not have disposal group.

Amendments to PAS 7, Statement of Cash Flows, Disclosure Initiative

The amendments require entities to provide disclosure of changes in their liabilities arising from
financing activities, including both changes arising from cash flows and non-cash changes (such
as foreign exchange gains or losses).

The Group has provided the required information in Note 29 to the consolidated financial
statements.  As allowed under the transition provisions of the standard, the Group did not present
comparative information for the year ended December 31, 2016 and 2015.
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Amendments to PAS 12, Income Taxes, Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealized
Losses

The amendments clarify that an entity needs to consider whether tax law restricts the sources of
taxable profits against which it may make deductions upon the reversal of the deductible
temporary difference related to unrealized losses. Furthermore, the amendments provide guidance
on how an entity should determine future taxable profits and explain the circumstances in which
taxable profit may include the recovery of some assets for more than their carrying amount.

The Group applied the amendments retrospectively. However, their application has no effect on
the Group’s financial position and performance as the Group has no deductible temporary
differences or assets that are in the scope of the amendments.

Pronouncements issued but not yet effective are listed below. Unless otherwise indicated, the Group
does not expect that the future adoption of the said pronouncements will have a significant impact on
its consolidated financial statements. The Group intends to adopt the following pronouncements
when they become effective.

Effective beginning on or after January 1, 2018

Amendments to PFRS 2, Share-based Payment, Classification and Measurement of Share-based
Payment Transactions

The amendments to PFRS 2 address three main areas: the effects of vesting conditions on the
measurement of a cash-settled share-based payment transaction; the classification of a share-
based payment transaction with net settlement features for withholding tax obligations; and the
accounting where a modification to the terms and conditions of a share-based payment
transaction changes its classification from cash settled to equity settled.

On adoption, entities are required to apply the amendments without restating prior periods, but
retrospective application is permitted if elected for all three amendments and if other criteria are
met. Early application of the amendments is permitted.

The Group does not expect impact from the adoption of this amendment because it does not have
share-based payment transactions.

PFRS 9, Financial Instruments

PFRS 9 reflects all phases of the financial instruments project and replaces PAS 39, Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, and all previous versions of PFRS 9. The standard
introduces new requirements for classification and measurement, impairment, and hedge
accounting.  Retrospective application is required but providing comparative information is not
compulsory.  For hedge accounting, the requirements are generally applied prospectively, with
some limited exceptions.

The Group plans to adopt the new standard on the mandatory effective date and will not restate
comparative information.
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In 2017, the Group performed its initial impact assessment of PFRS 9 and assessed that it will
impact its methodology and measurement of credit losses as well on the classification and
measurement of financial assets. There is no impact to the classification and measurement of its
financial liabilities.

Amendments to PFRS 4, Insurance Contracts, Applying PFRS 9, Financial Instruments, with
PFRS 4

The amendments address concerns arising from implementing PFRS 9, the new financial
instruments standard before implementing the new insurance contracts standard. The amendments
introduce two options for entities issuing insurance contracts: a temporary exemption from
applying PFRS 9 and an overlay approach. The temporary exemption is first applied for reporting
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018.  An entity may elect the overlay approach when it
first applies PFRS 9 and apply that approach retrospectively to financial assets designated on
transition to PFRS 9. The entity restates comparative information reflecting the overlay approach
if, and only if, the entity restates comparative information when applying PFRS 9.

The amendments are not applicable to the Group since none of the entities within the Group have
activities that are connected with insurance or issue insurance contracts.

PFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers

PFRS 15 establishes a new five-step model that will apply to revenue arising from contracts with
customers. Under PFRS 15, revenue is recognized at an amount that reflects the consideration to
which an entity expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring goods or services to a
customer. The principles in PFRS 15 provide a more structured approach to measuring and
recognizing revenue.

The new revenue standard is applicable to all entities and will supersede all current revenue
recognition requirements under PFRSs.  Either a full retrospective application or a modified
retrospective application is required for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018.
Early adoption is permitted. The Group plans to adopt the new standard on the required effective
date using the modified retrospective method.

Based on its initial assessment, adoption of PFRS 15 has no significant impact to the leasing
operations of the Group because it is following lease accounting which is covered by another
accounting standard while other sources of revenue such as interest and dividends are already
aligned with the requirements of PFRS 15. It will impact, however, its real estate development
business as follows:

Significant financing component in relation to advance payments received from customers or
advance proportion of work performed
Determination if existing documentation would meet the definition of contracts for real estate
agreements
Accounting for costs in obtaining the contract for real estate agreements
Measurement of progress for real estate

The recognition and measurement requirements in PFRS 15 also apply to gains or losses on
disposal of nonfinancial assets such as items of property and equipment and investment properties
when that disposal is not in the ordinary course of business.
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Amendments to PAS 28, Measuring an Associate or Joint Venture at Fair Value (Part of Annual
Improvements to PFRSs 2014 - 2016 Cycle)

The amendments clarify that an entity that is a venture capital organization, or other qualifying
entity, may elect, at initial recognition on an investment-by-investment basis, to measure its
investments in associates and joint ventures at fair value through profit or loss. They also clarify
that if an entity that is not itself an investment entity has an interest in an associate or joint
venture that is an investment entity, the entity may, when applying the equity method, elect to
retain the fair value measurement applied by that investment entity associate or joint venture to
the investment entity associate’s or joint venture’s interests in subsidiaries. This election is made
separately for each investment entity associate or joint venture, at the later of the date on which
(a) the investment entity associate or joint venture is initially recognized; (b) the associate or joint
venture becomes an investment entity; and (c) the investment entity associate or joint venture first
becomes a parent. The amendments should be applied retrospectively, with earlier application
permitted.

The amendments should be applied retrospectively, with earlier application permitted. The
amendment is not expected to significantly impact the financial statements since entities within
the Group are not venture capital organization or alike.

Amendments to PAS 40, Investment Property, Transfers of Investment Property

The amendments clarify when an entity should transfer property, including property under
construction or development into, or out of investment property. The amendments state that a
change in use occurs when the property meets, or ceases to meet, the definition of investment
property and there is evidence of the change in use. A mere change in management’s intentions
for the use of a property does not provide evidence of a change in use. The amendments should
be applied prospectively to changes in use that occur on or after the beginning of the annual
reporting period in which the entity first applies the amendments. Retrospective application is
only permitted if this is possible without the use of hindsight.

The Group has assessed the impact of the standard and will apply to its future change in use of
properties to and from investment property given that it is in the mall and commercial center
operations.

Philippine Interpretation IFRIC-22, Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration

The interpretation clarifies that, in determining the spot exchange rate to use on initial recognition
of the related asset, expense or income (or part of it) on the derecognition of a non-monetary asset
or non-monetary liability relating to advance consideration, the date of the transaction is the date
on which an entity initially recognizes the nonmonetary asset or non-monetary liability arising
from the advance consideration. If there are multiple payments or receipts in advance, then the
entity must determine a date of the transactions for each payment or receipt of advance
consideration.  Entities may apply the amendments on a fully retrospective basis.  Alternatively,
an entity may apply the interpretation prospectively to all assets, expenses and income in its
scope that are initially recognized on or after the beginning of the reporting period in which the
entity first applies the interpretation or the beginning of a prior reporting period presented as
comparative information in the consolidated financial statements of the reporting period in which
the entity first applies the interpretation.

The Group does not expect any effect on its consolidated financial statements upon adoption of
this interpretation.
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Effective beginning on or after January 1, 2019

Amendments to PFRS 9, Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation

The amendments to PFRS 9 allow debt instruments with negative compensation prepayment
features to be measured at amortized cost or fair value through other comprehensive income.
An entity shall apply these amendments for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
January 1, 2019. Earlier application is permitted.

The Group will apply this amendment if there are transactions of this nature in the future. None
of its current transactions will fall under this feature.

PFRS 16, Leases

PFRS 16 sets out the principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of
leases and requires lessees to account for all leases under a single on-balance sheet model similar
to the accounting for finance leases under PAS 17, Leases. The standard includes two recognition
exemptions for lessees - leases of ’low-value’ assets (e.g., personal computers) and short-term
leases (i.e., leases with a lease term of 12 months or less). At the commencement date of a lease,
a lessee will recognize a liability to make lease payments (i.e., the lease liability) and an asset
representing the right to use the underlying asset during the lease term (i.e., the right-of-use
asset). Lessees will be required to separately recognize the interest expense on the lease liability
and the depreciation expense on the right-of-use asset.

Lessees will be also required to remeasure the lease liability upon the occurrence of certain events
(e.g., a change in the lease term, a change in future lease payments resulting from a change in an
index or rate used to determine those payments). The lessee will generally recognize the amount
of the remeasurement of the lease liability as an adjustment to the right-of-use asset.

Lessor accounting under PFRS 16 is substantially unchanged from today’s accounting under
PAS 17.  Lessors will continue to classify all leases using the same classification principle as in
PAS 17 and distinguish between two types of leases: operating and finance leases.

PFRS 16 also requires lessees and lessors to make more extensive disclosures than under
PAS 17.

Early application is permitted, but not before an entity applies PFRS 15. A lessee can choose to
apply the standard using either a full retrospective or a modified retrospective approach. The
standard’s transition provisions permit certain reliefs.

The new lease standard will impact its operating lease agreements with its land leases where the
commercial centers stand and its branch offices which are currently accounted for as operating
leases, which will now require to be recorded as right of use asset and the related lease liability.
There is no significant impact to the Group as a lessor for its investment portfolio.  There will be
more disclosures as required by the new standard.

Amendments to PAS 28, Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures

The amendments to PAS 28 clarify that entities should account for long-term interests in an
associate or joint venture to which the equity method is not applied using PFRS 9. An entity shall
apply these amendments for annual reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019.
Earlier application is permitted.
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The Group does not expect this amendment to have significant impact to the consolidated
financial statements because it does not currently have interests in associates and joint ventures.

Philippine Interpretation IFRIC-23, Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments

The interpretation addresses the accounting for income taxes when tax treatments involve
uncertainty that affects the application of PAS 12 and does not apply to taxes or levies outside the
scope of PAS 12, nor does it specifically include requirements relating to interest and penalties
associated with uncertain tax treatments.

The interpretation specifically addresses the following:
o Whether an entity considers uncertain tax treatments separately
o The assumptions an entity makes about the examination of tax treatments by taxation

authorities
o How an entity determines taxable profit (tax loss), tax bases, unused tax losses, unused tax

credits and tax rates
o How an entity considers changes in facts and circumstances

An entity must determine whether to consider each uncertain tax treatment separately or together
with one or more other uncertain tax treatments. The approach that better predicts the resolution
of the uncertainty should be followed.

The Group is currently assessing the impact of adopting this interpretation.

Deferred effectivity

Amendments to PFRS 10 and PAS 28, Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture

The amendments address the conflict between PFRS 10 and PAS 28 in dealing with the loss of
control of a subsidiary that is sold or contributed to an associate or joint venture. The
amendments clarify that a full gain or loss is recognized when a transfer to an associate or joint
venture involves a business as defined in PFRS 3, Business Combinations. Any gain or loss
resulting from the sale or contribution of assets that does not constitute a business, however, is
recognized only to the extent of unrelated investors’ interests in the associate or joint venture.

On January 13, 2016, the Financial Reporting Standards Council deferred the original effective
date of January 1, 2016 of the said amendments until the International Accounting Standards
Board (IASB) completes its broader review of the research project on equity accounting that may
result in the simplification of accounting for such transactions and of other aspects of accounting
for associates and joint ventures.
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4. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Current and Noncurrent Classification
The Group presents assets and liabilities in consolidated statement of financial position based on
current/noncurrent classification.

An asset is current when:
Expected to be realized or intended to be sold or consumed in normal operating cycle;
Held primarily for the purpose of trading;
Expected to be realized within 12 months after reporting date; or
Cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at
least 12 months after reporting date.

All other assets are classified as noncurrent.

A liability is current when:
It is expected to be settled in the normal operating cycle;
It is held primarily for the purpose of trading;
It is due to be settled within 12 months after reporting date; or
There is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after
reporting date.

The Group classifies all other liabilities as noncurrent.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are classified as noncurrent assets and liabilities, respectively.

Cash
Cash includes cash on hand and in banks.  Cash in banks earn interest at the prevailing interest rate.

Financial Instruments
Date of recognition
The Group recognizes a financial asset or a financial liability in the consolidated statement of
financial position when it becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.  Purchases
or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace are recognized on the trade date, which is the date when
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.

Initial recognition of financial instruments
All financial assets and financial liabilities are initially recognized at fair value.  Except for financial
assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL), the initial measurement of financial
assets and liabilities include transaction costs.  The Group classifies its financial assets in the
following categories: financial assets at FVPL, held-to-maturity (HTM) investments, AFS financial
assets, and loans and receivables.

The Group classifies its financial liabilities as financial liabilities at FVPL or other financial
liabilities.

The classification depends on the purpose for which the investments were acquired and whether these
are quoted in an active market.  The financial assets of the Group are of the nature of loans and
receivable, AFS financial assets and HTM financial assets, while its financial liabilities are of the
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nature of other financial liabilities.  Management determines the classification at initial recognition
and re-evaluates such designation, where allowed and appropriate, at every reporting date.

Financial instruments are classified as liability or equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangement.  Interest, dividends, gains and losses relating to a financial instrument or a
component that is a financial liability, are reported as expense or income.  Distributions to holders of
financial instruments classified as equity are charged directly to equity, net of any related income tax
benefits.

Fair Value Measurement
The Group measures AFS financial assets at fair value at each reporting date.  Also, fair values of
loans and receivables, other financial liabilities and investment properties are disclosed in Notes 13
and 26.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date.  The fair value measurement is
based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place
either:

In the principal market for the asset or liability, or
In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability.

The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible to by the Group.

The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants
would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic
best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability to
generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another
market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which
sufficient data are available to measure fair value, maximizing the use of relevant observable inputs
and minimizing the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the consolidated financial
statements are categorized within the fair value hierarchy based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 – Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
Level 2 – Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is directly or indirectly observable
Level 3 – Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognized in the consolidated financial statements on a recurring
basis, the Group determines whether transfers have occurred between Levels in the hierarchy by re-
assessing categorization (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.
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 “Day 1” difference
Where the transaction price in a non-active market is different from the fair value from other
observable current market transactions in the same instrument or based on a valuation technique
whose variables include only data from observable market, the Group recognizes the difference
between the transaction price and fair value (a “Day 1” difference) in profit or loss under “Interest
income” and “Interest expense” accounts unless it qualifies for recognition as some other type of
asset or liability.  In cases where fair value is determined using data which is not observable, the
difference between the transaction price and model value is only recognized in profit or loss when the
inputs become observable or when the instrument is derecognized.  For each transaction, the Group
determines the appropriate method of recognizing the “Day 1” difference amount.

Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are nonderivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are
not quoted in an active market.  They are not entered into with the intention of immediate or short-
term resale and are not classified as financial assets held-for-trading, designated as AFS or as
financial assets at FVPL.  Receivables are recognized initially at fair value.  After initial
measurement, loans and receivables are subsequently measured at cost or at amortized cost using the
effective interest method, less allowance for impairment losses.  Amortized cost is calculated by
taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees that are an integral part of the
effective interest rate (EIR).  The amortization, if any, is included in profit or loss.  The losses arising
from impairment of receivables are recognized in profit or loss.  These financial assets are included in
current assets if maturity is within 12 months from the financial reporting date.  Otherwise, these are
classified as noncurrent assets.

This accounting policy applies primarily to the Group’s cash, receivables (except for advances to
contractors and suppliers), receivables from related parties and cash restricted for use included in
“Other noncurrent assets”.

AFS financial assets
AFS financial assets are nonderivative financial assets that are designated as such or do not qualify to
be classified or designated as financial assets at FVPL, HTM investments or loans and receivables.
These are purchased and held indefinitely, and may be sold in response to liquidity requirements or
changes in market conditions.

After initial measurement, AFS financial assets are subsequently measured at fair value with
unrealised gains or losses recognized in OCI and credited to the OCI until the investment is
derecognized, at which time, the cumulative gain or loss is recognized in other operating income, or
the investment is determined to be impaired, when the cumulative loss is reclassified from the OCI to
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income in interest and other financing charges.  Interest
earned whilst holding AFS financial assets is reported as interest income using the EIR method.

When the investment is disposed of, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognized in OCI is
recognized as gain or loss on disposal in profit or loss.  Where the Group holds more than one
investment in the same security these are deemed to be disposed of on a first-in first-out basis.
Interest earned on holding AFS financial assets are reported as interest and other income from
investments using the EIR.  Dividends earned on holding AFS financial assets are recognized in profit
or loss as part of miscellaneous income when the right to receive payment has been established.  The
losses arising from impairment of such investments are recognized as provisions for impairment
losses in profit or loss.
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When the fair value of AFS equity financial assets cannot be measured reliably because of lack of
reliable estimates of future cash flows and discount rates necessary to calculate the fair value of
unquoted equity instruments, these investments are carried at cost, less any impairment losses.

As at December 31, 2017 and 2016, AFS financial assets comprise of unquoted and quoted equity
securities and investment in mutual funds.

Other financial liabilities
Other financial liabilities are initially recognized at the fair value of the consideration received less
directly attributable transaction costs.

After initial recognition, other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortized cost using
the effective interest method.  Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or
premium on the issue and fees that are an integral part of the EIR.  Gains and losses are recognized in
profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognized (redemption is a form of derecognition), as well as
through the amortization process.  Any effects of restatement of foreign currency-denominated
liabilities are recognized in profit or loss.

The financial liabilities measured at cost are trade and other payables (except for deferred output
VAT), liability for purchased land, payables to related parties and dividends payable.  The financial
liabilities measured at amortized cost are interest-bearing loans and borrowings.

Derecognition of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities

Financial asset
A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a group of financial assets) is derecognized when:
(a) the rights to receive cash flows from the assets have expired; (b) the Group retains the right to
receive cash flows from the asset, but has assumed an obligation to pay them in full without material
delay to a third-party under a “pass-through” arrangement; or (c) the Group has transferred its right to
receive cash flows from the asset and either: (i) has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards
of the asset, or (ii) has neither transferred nor retained the risks and rewards of the asset but has
transferred control of the asset.

Where the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a
pass-through arrangement, and has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the asset is recognized to the extent of the
Group’s continuing involvement in the asset.  Continuing involvement that takes the form of a
guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying amount of the
asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Group could be required to repay.

Financial liability
A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled
or has expired.  Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on
substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an
exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a
new liability, and the difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognized in profit or loss.

Impairment of Financial Assets
The Group assesses at each financial reporting date whether there is objective evidence that a
financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired.  A financial asset or a group of financial assets
is deemed to be impaired if, and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one
or more events that has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (an incurred ‘loss event’) and
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that loss event (or events) has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or
the group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated.  The fact that title of the real estate
properties are transferred only to the buyer upon full payment of the contract price is considered in
the evaluation of impairment.  Evidence of impairment may include indications that the borrower or a
group of borrowers is experiencing significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest
or principal payments, and where observable data indicate that there is measurable decrease in the
estimated future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with
defaults.

Financial assets carried at amortized cost
The Group first assesses whether an objective evidence of impairment exists individually for financial
assets that are individually significant.  If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on a
financial asset carried at amortized cost (i.e., loans and receivables or HTM investments) has been
incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the assets’ carrying amount
and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the assets original EIR
(excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred).  If it is determined that no objective
evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed financial asset, the asset, together with the
other assets that are not individually significant and were thus not individually assessed for
impairment, is included in a group of financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and that
group of financial assets is collectively assessed for impairment.

Assets that are individually assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss is or continues
to be recognized are not included in a collective assessment of impairment.

For the purpose of a collective evaluation of impairment, financial assets are grouped on the basis of
credit risk characteristics such as selling price of the lots and residential houses, past-due status and
term.

Future cash flows in a group of financial assets that are collectively evaluated for impairment are
estimated on the basis of historical loss experience for assets with credit risk characteristics similar to
those in the group.  Historical loss experience is adjusted on the basis of current observable data to
reflect the effects of current conditions that did not affect the period on which the historical loss
experience is based and to remove the effects of conditions in the historical period that do not exist
currently.  The methodology and assumptions used for estimating future cash flows are reviewed
regularly by the Group to reduce any differences between loss estimates and actual loss experience.

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account and the amount
of loss is charged to profit or loss.  Financial assets carried at amortized costs, together with the
associated allowance accounts, are written off when there is no realistic prospect of future recovery
and all collateral has been realized.  If, in a subsequent year, the amount of the estimated impairment
loss decreases because of an event occurring after the impairment was recognized, the previously
recognized impairment loss is reversed.  Any subsequent reversal of an impairment loss is recognized
in profit or loss, to the extent that the carrying value of the asset does not exceed its amortized cost at
the reversal date.

AFS financial assets carried at fair value
For AFS financial assets, the Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is objective
evidence that an investment or a group of investments is impaired.  In the case of equity investments
classified as AFS, objective evidence would include a significant or prolonged decline in the fair
value of the investment below its cost. ‘Significant’ is evaluated against the original cost of the
investment and ‘prolonged’ against the period in which the fair value has been below its original cost.
When there is evidence of impairment, the cumulative loss - measured as the difference between the
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acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that investment previously
recognized in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income is removed from OCI and
recognized in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.  Impairment losses on equity
investments are not reversed through profit or loss; increases in their fair value after impairment are
recognized in OCI.

The determination of what is ‘significant’ or ‘prolonged’ requires judgement. In making this
judgement, the Group evaluates, among other factors, the duration or extent to which the fair value of
an investment is less than its cost.  In the case of debt instruments classified as AFS, the impairment
is assessed based on the same criteria as financial assets carried at amortized cost. However, the
amount recorded for impairment is the cumulative loss measured as the difference between the
amortized cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that investment previously
recognized in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

Future interest income continues to be accrued based on the reduced carrying amount of the asset,
using the rate of interest used to discount the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring the
impairment loss. The interest income is recorded as part of finance income.  If, in a subsequent year,
the fair value of a debt instrument increases and the increase can be objectively related to an event
occurring after the impairment loss was recognized in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, the impairment loss is reversed through the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income.

AFS financial assets carried at cost
If there is an objective evidence that an impairment loss on an unquoted equity instrument that is not
carried at fair value because its fair value cannot be reliably measured, the amount of the loss is
measured as the difference between the carrying amount and the present value of estimated future
cash flows discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar financial asset.

Offsetting Financial Instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the consolidated
statement of financial position if, and only if, there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the
recognized amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realize the asset and settle
the liability simultaneously.

Real Estate Properties for Sale
Real estate properties for sale consist of subdivision land and residential houses and lots for sale and
development.  These are properties acquired or being constructed for sale in the ordinary course of
business rather than to be held for rental or capital appreciation.  These are held as inventory and are
measured at the lower of cost and net realizable value (NRV).

Cost includes:
Acquisition cost of raw land and subdivision land;
Amounts paid to contractors for construction and development of subdivision land and residential
houses and lots; and
Capitalized borrowing costs, planning and design costs, cost of site preparation, professional fees
for legal services, property transfer taxes, construction overheads and other related costs.

NRV is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of the business, based on market prices at
the reporting date, less costs to complete and the estimated costs of sale.  The carrying amount of
inventories is reduced through the use of allowance account and the amount of loss is charged to
profit or loss.
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The cost of inventory recognized in profit or loss on disposal is determined with reference to the
specific costs incurred on the property sold and an allocation of any non-specific costs.  The total
costs are allocated pro-rata based on the relative size of the property sold.

Value-Added Tax
Input tax represents the VAT due or paid on purchases of goods and services subjected to VAT that
the Group can claim against any future liability to the BIR for output VAT on sale of goods and
services subjected to VAT.  The input tax can also be recovered as tax credit under certain
circumstances against future income tax liability of the Group upon approval of the BIR and/or
Bureau of Customs.  Input tax is stated at its estimated net realizable values.  A valuation allowance is
provided for any portion of the input tax that cannot be claimed against output tax or recovered as tax
credit against future income tax liability.  Input tax is recorded under current assets in the statement of
financial position.

For its VAT-registered activities, when VAT from sales of goods and/or services (output VAT)
exceeds VAT passed on from purchases of goods or services (input VAT), the excess is recognized as
payable in the consolidated statement of financial position. When VAT passed on from purchases of
goods or services (input VAT) exceeds VAT from sales of goods and/or services (output VAT), the
excess is recognized as an asset in the consolidated statement of financial position up to the extent of
the recoverable amount.

For its non-VAT registered activities, the amount of VAT passed on from its purchases of goods or
service is recognized as part of the cost of goods/asset acquired or as part of the expense item, as
applicable.

Prepaid Expenses
Prepaid expenses are carried at cost less the amortized portion.  These typically comprise
prepayments for marketing fees, taxes and licenses, rentals and insurance.

Creditable Withholding Tax
Creditable withholding tax pertains to taxes withheld on income payments and may be applied against
income tax due. The balance of taxes withheld is recovered in future period.

Property and Equipment
Property and equipment are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment in
value.  The initial cost of property and equipment consists of its purchase price, including import
duties, taxes and any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and
location for its intended use.

Depreciation and amortization of property and equipment commences once the property and
equipment are available for use and computed using the straight-line basis over the Estimated Useful
Life (EUL) of property and equipment as follows:

Years
Office and other equipment 3 to 5
Transportation equipment 3
Construction equipment 1 to 2

The useful lives and depreciation and amortization method are reviewed annually to ensure that the
period and method of depreciation and amortization are consistent with the expected pattern of
economic benefits from items of property and equipment.
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When property and equipment are retired or otherwise disposed of, the cost of the related
accumulated depreciation and amortization and accumulated provision for impairment losses, if any,
are removed from the accounts and any resulting gain or loss is credited to or charged against current
operations.

Fully depreciated and amortized property and equipment are retained in the accounts until they are no
longer in use.  No further depreciation and amortization is charged against current operations.

Investment Properties
Investment properties comprise of completed property and property under construction or
re-development that are held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation or both.  Investment properties,
except for land, are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization and any
impairment in value.  Land is carried at cost less any impairment in value.

Expenditures incurred after the investment property has been put in operation, such as repairs and
maintenance costs, are normally charged against income in the period in which the costs are incurred.

Construction-in-progress (CIP) is stated at cost.  This includes cost of construction and other direct
costs.  CIP is not depreciated until such time as the relevant assets are completed and put into
operational use.  Construction-in-progress are carried at cost and transferred to the related investment
property account when the construction and related activities to prepare the property for its intended
use are complete, and the property is ready for occupation.

Depreciation and amortization are computed using the straight-line method over the EUL of the
assets, regardless of utilization.  The EUL and the depreciation and amortization method are reviewed
periodically to ensure that the period and method of depreciation and amortization are consistent with
the expected pattern of economic benefits from items of investment properties.

The EUL of buildings and building improvements is 10 to 40 years.

Investment properties are derecognized when either they have been disposed of or when the
investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is expected
from its disposal.  Any gain or loss on the retirement or disposal of an investment property is
recognized in profit or loss in the year of retirement or disposal.

Transfers are made to investment property when there is a change in use, evidenced by ending of
owner-occupation, commencement of an operating lease to another party or ending of construction or
development.  Transfers are made from investment property when, and only when, there is a change
in use, evidenced by commencement of owner-occupation or commencement of development with a
view to sale.  Transfers between investment property, owner-occupied property and inventories do
not change the carrying amount of the property transferred and they do not change the cost of the
property for measurement or for disclosure purposes.

Impairment of Nonfinancial Assets
This accounting policy relates to prepayments and other assets (except for cash restricted for use),
property and equipment and investment properties.

The Group assesses as at reporting date whether there is an indication that nonfinancial assets may be
impaired.  If any such indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required,
the Group makes an estimate of the asset’s recoverable amount.  An asset’s recoverable amount is
calculated as the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s fair value less costs to sell and its
value in use and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows
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that are largely independent of those assets or groups of assets.  Where the carrying amount of an
asset exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its
recoverable amount.  In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessment of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset.  Impairment losses of continuing operations are recognized
in profit or loss in those expense categories consistent with the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at each financial reporting date as to whether there is an indication that
previously recognized impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased.  If such
indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated.  A previously recognized impairment loss is
reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable
amount since the last impairment loss was recognized.  If that is the case, the carrying amount of the
asset is increased to its recoverable amount.  That increased amount cannot exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation and amortization, had no impairment
loss been recognized for the asset in prior years.  Such reversal is recognized in profit or loss unless
the asset is carried at revalued amount, in which case the reversal is treated as revaluation increase in
OCI. After such reversal, the depreciation and amortization charge is adjusted in future periods to
allocate the asset’s revised carrying amount, less any residual value, on a systematic basis over its
remaining useful life.

Security deposit
Security deposits are measured at amortized cost.  Security deposit are deposits received from various
tenants upon inception of the respective lease control on the Group’s investment properties.  At the
termination of the lease contracts, the deposit received by the Group are returned to tenants, reduced
by unpaid rental fees, penalties and/or deductions from repairs of damaged leased properties, if
any.  The related lease contracts usually have a term of more than 12 months.

Construction bonds
Construction bonds are measured at amortized cost.  Construction bonds are deposits from tenants
undertaking construction and/or repairs of their leased commercial spaces.  At the termination of the
construction period, the deposit received by the Group are returned to tenants, reduced by penalties
and/or deductions from repairs of damaged leased properties, if any.  The construction contracts
usually have a term of more than 12 months.

Retention payable
Retention payable are amount withheld from the contractors as guaranty for any claims against
them.  These are settled and paid once the construction period has expired.

Equity
Capital stock is measured at par value for all shares subscribed, issued and outstanding. When the
shares are sold at premium, the difference between the proceeds at the par value is credited to
“Additional paid-in capital” account.  Direct costs incurred related to equity issuance are chargeable
to “Additional paid-in capital” account.  If additional paid-in capital is not sufficient, the excess is
charged against retained earnings.  When the Group issues more than one class of stock, a separate
account is maintained for each class of stock and the number of shares issued.

Retained earnings represent accumulated earnings of the Group less dividends declared.  It includes
the accumulated equity in undistributed earnings of consolidated subsidiaries which are not available
for dividends until declared by the subsidiaries.
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Revenue and Cost Recognition
Revenue is recognized to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow and the
amount of revenue can be reliably measured.  The Group assesses its revenue arrangements against
specific criteria in order to determine if it is acting as principal or agent.  The Group has concluded
that it is acting as principal in all its revenue arrangements.

Rental income
Rental income under noncancellable leases are recognized in the consolidated statements of
comprehensive income under “Rental income” on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.
Contingent rent is recognized as revenue in the period in which it is earned.

Common usage and service area charges and administrative fees
Revenue is recognized when the performance of service has been substantially rendered.  Income
received from customer usage and service area charges is presented under “Rental income” while
administrative fees is presented under “Other income” in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.

Parking fees
Parking fees are recognized as revenue when earned.

Real estate revenue and cost of real estate sales
For real estate sales, the Group assesses whether it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to
the Group when the sales prices are collectible.  Collectability of the sales price is demonstrated by
the buyer’s commitment to pay, which in turn is supported by substantial initial and continuing
investments that give the buyer a stake in the property sufficient that the risk of loss through default
motivates the buyer to honor its obligation to the seller.  Collectability is also assessed by considering
factors such as the credit standing of the buyer, age and location of the property.

Revenue from sales of completed real estate projects is accounted for using the full accrual method.
In accordance with Philippine Interpretations Committee, Q&A 2006-01, the percentage-of-
completion (POC) method is used to recognize income from sales of projects where the Group has
material obligations under the sales contract to complete the project after the property is sold, the
equitable interest has been transferred to the buyer, construction is beyond preliminary stage
(i.e., engineering, design work, construction contracts execution, site clearance and preparation,
excavation and the building foundation are finished, and the costs incurred or to be incurred can be
measured reliably).  Under this method, revenue is recognized as the related obligations are fulfilled,
measured principally on the basis of the estimated completion of a physical proportion of the contract
work.

Any excess of collections over the recognized receivables are included in the “Trade and other
payables” account in the liabilities section of the consolidated statement of financial position.

When a sale of real estate does not meet the requirements for revenue recognition, the sale is
accounted for under the deposit method.  Under this method, revenue is not recognized, and the
receivable from the buyer is not recorded.  The real estate inventories continue to be reported on the
consolidated statement of financial position as “Real estate properties for sale” and the related
liability as deposits under “Trade and other payables”.
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Cost of real estate sales is recognized consistent with the revenue recognition method applied.  Cost
of subdivision land and condominium units sold before the completion of the development is
determined on the basis of the acquisition cost of the land plus its full development costs, which
include estimated costs for future development works, as determined by the Group’s in-house
technical staff.

Interest income
Interest is recognized using the effective interest method, i.e, the rate, that exactly discounts estimated
future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument to the net carrying amount of
the financial asset.

Unearned discount is recognized as income over the terms of the loans and receivables using the
effective interest method and is shown as deduction for the financial assets.

Miscellaneous income
Miscellaneous income are recognized when the Group’s right to receive payment is established.

Borrowing Costs
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition or construction of an asset that necessarily
takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale are capitalized as part of the
cost of the investment properties in the consolidated statement of financial position.  All other
borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they occur.  Borrowing costs consist of interest
and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.

The interest capitalized is calculated using the Group’s weighted average cost of borrowings after
adjusting for borrowings associated with specific developments.  Where borrowings are associated
with specific developments, the amounts capitalized is the gross interest incurred on those borrowings
less any investment income arising on their temporary investment.

Interest is capitalized from the commencement of the development work until the date of practical
completion.  The capitalization of finance costs is suspended if there are prolonged periods when
development activity is interrupted.  Interest is also capitalized on the purchase cost of a site of
property acquired specifically for redevelopment but only where activities necessary to prepare the
asset for redevelopment are in progress.

Operating Expenses
Operating expenses constitute costs of administering the business.  These are recognized as expenses
when incurred.

Pension Cost
Defined benefit plan
The net defined benefit liability or asset is the aggregate of the present value of the defined benefit
obligation at the end of the reporting period reduced by the fair value of plan assets, adjusted for any
effect of limiting a net defined benefit asset to the asset ceiling.  The asset ceiling is the present value
of any economic benefits available in the form of refunds from the plan or reductions in future
contributions to the plan.

The cost of providing benefits under the defined benefit plans is actuarially determined using the
projected unit credit (PUC) method.
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Defined benefit costs comprise the following:
(a) service cost;
(b) net interest on the net defined benefit liability or asset; and
(c) remeasurements of net defined benefit liability or asset.

Service costs which include current service costs, past service costs and gains or losses on non-
routine settlements are recognized as expense in profit or loss.  Past service costs are recognized
when plan amendment or curtailment occurs.

Net interest on the net defined benefit liability or asset is the change during the period in the net
defined benefit liability or asset that arises from the passage of time which is determined by applying
the discount rate based on high quality corporate bonds to the net defined benefit liability or asset.
Net interest on the net defined benefit liability or asset is recognized as expense or income in profit or
loss.

Remeasurements comprising actuarial gains and losses, return on plan assets and any change in the
effect of the asset ceiling (excluding net interest on defined benefit liability) are recognized
immediately in OCI in the period in which they arise.  Remeasurements are not reclassified to profit
or loss in subsequent periods.

Income Taxes
Current tax
Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected
to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities.  The tax rates and tax laws used to compute
the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date.

Deferred tax
Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary differences at the reporting date
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting
purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences.  Deferred tax assets are
recognized for all deductible temporary differences and carry forward benefit of unused tax credits
from excess of minimum corporate income tax (MCIT) over the regular corporate income tax and
unused net operating loss carryover (NOLCO), to the extent that it is probable that taxable income
will be available against which the deductible temporary differences and carry forward benefits of
MCIT and NOLCO can be utilized.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable income will be available to allow all or part
of the deferred tax asset to be utilized.  Any unrecognized deferred tax assets are reassessed at each
reporting period and are recognized to the extent that it has become probable that sufficient future
taxable income will allow the deferred tax assets to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are measured at the tax rate that is expected to apply in
the period when the asset is realized or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that
have been enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax relating to items recognized outside of profit or loss is recognized in correlation to the
underlying transaction either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax
assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the
same taxation authority.

Leases
The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains a lease is based on the substance of the
arrangement at inception date, and requires an assessment of whether the fulfillment of the
arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets and the arrangement conveys a right
to use the asset.  A reassessment is made after inception of the lease only if one of the following
applies:

(a) there is a change in contractual terms, other than a renewal or extension of the arrangement; a
renewal option is exercised or extension granted, unless that term of the renewal or  extension
was initially included in the lease term;

(b) there is a change in the determination of whether fulfillment is dependent on a specified asset; or
(c) there is a substantial change to the asset.

Where a reassessment is made, lease accounting shall commence or cease from the date when the
change in circumstances gave rise to the reassessment for any of the scenarios above, and at the date
of renewal or extension period for the second scenario.

Group as a lessor
Leases where the lessor does not transfer substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership of the
assets are classified as operating leases.  Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating operating leases
are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognized over the lease term on the same
basis as the rental income.  Contingent rents are recognized as revenue in the period in which they are
earned.

Group as a lessee
Leases where the lessor retains substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership of the asset are
classified as operating leases.  Operating lease payments are recognized as an expense in profit or loss
in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
Indirect costs incurred in negotiating an operating lease are added to the carrying value of the leased
asset and recognized over the lease term on the same bases as the lease income.  Minimum lease
payments are recognized on a straight-line basis while the variable rent is recognized as an expense
based on the terms of the lease contract.

Foreign Currency Translation
Each entity in the Group determines its own functional currency and items included in the financial
statements of each entity are measured using that functional currency.  Transactions in foreign
currencies are initially recorded in the functional currency rate ruling at the date of the transaction.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the functional
currency rate of exchange ruling at the reporting date.  Exchange gains or losses arising from foreign
exchange transactions are credited to or charged against operations for the period.
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Basic and Diluted Earnings Per Share (EPS)
Basic EPS is computed by dividing net income attributable to equity holders of the Parent Company
by the weighted average number of common shares issued and outstanding during the year adjusted
for any subsequent stock dividends declared.  Diluted EPS is computed by dividing net income
attributable to the equity holders of the Parent Company by the weighted average number of common
shares issued and outstanding during the year after giving effect to assumed conversion of potential
common shares.  The calculation of diluted EPS does not assume conversion, exercise, or other issue
of potential common shares that would have an antidilutive effect on earnings per share.

Segment Reporting
The Group’s business is primarily leasing of retail malls and BPO commercial centers which are all
located in the Philippines and treated as one segment.  The segmentation is the basis of the chief
operating decision market’s internal reports allocation resources, and the evaluation of performance.

Provisions
Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of
past events, it is more likely than not that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligation, and the amount can be reliably estimated. Provisions are not recognized for future
operating losses.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects the current market assessment of the time value of money
and the risk specific to the obligation. Where discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to
the passage of time is recognized as interest expense. Where the Group expects some or all of a
provision to be reimbursed, the reimbursement is recognized only when the reimbursement is
virtually certain.  The expense relating to any provision is presented in consolidated statement of
comprehensive income net of any reimbursement.

Contingencies
Contingent liabilities are not recognized in the consolidated financial statements.  These are disclosed
unless the possibility of an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is remote.  Contingent
assets are not recognized in the consolidated financial statements but disclosed when an inflow of
economic benefits is probable.

Events After the Financial Reporting Date
Post year-end events that provide additional information about the Group’s position at the reporting
date (adjusting events) are reflected in the consolidated financial statements.  Any post year-end
events that are not adjusting events are disclosed in the consolidated financial statements when
material.

5. Significant Accounting Judgments and Estimates

The preparation of accompanying consolidated financial statements in compliance with PFRS
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the
consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes.  The estimates and assumptions used in
the consolidated financial statements are based upon management’s evaluation of relevant facts and
circumstances as at the date of the consolidated financial statements.  Actual results could differ from
such estimates.
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Judgments and estimates are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other
factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances.

Judgments
In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following
judgments, apart from those involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognized in the consolidated financial statements:

Operating lease commitments - the Group as lessor
The Group has entered into commercial property leases on its investment property portfolio.  The
Group has determined that it retains all significant risks and rewards of ownership of these properties
as the Group considered among others the length of the lease term as compared with the EUL of the
assets.

Real estate revenue and cost recognition
Selecting an appropriate revenue recognition method for a particular real estate sale transaction
requires certain judgments based on, among others:

Buyer’s commitment on the sale which may be ascertained through the significance of the
buyer’s initial investment; and
Stage of completion of the project.

Management’s Use of Estimates
The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the
reporting date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below.

Determining fair values of financial assets
Fair value determinations for financial assets are based generally on listed market prices or broker or
dealer quotations.  If prices are not readily determinable or if liquidating the positions is reasonably
expected to affect market prices, fair value is based on either internal valuation models or
management’s estimate of amounts that could be realized under current market condition, assuming
an orderly liquidation over a reasonable period of time.  Fair value disclosures are provided in
Note 26.

Impairment of loans and receivables
The Group reviews its receivables on a periodic basis to assess impairment of receivables at an
individual and collective level. In assessing for impairment, the Group determines whether there is
any objective evidence indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash
flows of its loans and receivables.  This evidence may include observable data indicating that there
has been an adverse change in the payment status of borrowers, or industry-wide or local economic
conditions that correlate with defaults on receivables.  These factors include, but are not limited to
age of balances, financial status of counterparties, payment behavior and known market factors.  The
Group reviews the age and status of receivables, and identifies individually significant accounts that
are to be provided with allowance.

For the purpose of a collective evaluation of impairment, loans are grouped on the basis of such credit
risk characteristics as type of borrower, collateral type, past-due status and term and age of the
receivables.
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Both the specific and collective impairment testing considered the outstanding balance of security
deposit received from tenants and whether they still have active lease agreement.

The amount and timing of recorded expenses for any period would differ if the Group made different
judgments or utilized different estimates. An increase in allowance for impairment would increase
recorded expenses and decrease net income.

The carrying values of the Group’s receivables (except for advances to contractors and suppliers) and
receivables from related parties as at December 31, 2017 and 2016 follows:

2017 2016
Receivables (Note 9) P=5,164,462,414 P=3,706,902,845
Receivables from related parties (Note 23) 4,922,649,163 3,112,669,077

P=10,087,111,577 P=6,819,571,922

Evaluation of net realizable value of real estate properties for sale
Real estate properties for sale are valued at the lower of cost or NRV.  This requires the Group to
make an estimate of the real estate for sale inventories’ estimated selling price in the ordinary course
of business, cost of completion and costs necessary to make a sale to determine the NRV.  The Group
adjusts the cost of its real estate inventories to NRV based on its assessment of the recoverability of
these assets.  In determining the recoverability of these assets, management considers whether these
assets are damaged, if their selling prices have declined and management’s plan in discontinuing the
real estate projects.  Estimated selling price is derived from publicly available market data while
estimated selling costs are basically commission expense and transfer costs.

Real estate properties for sale amounted to P=322.09 million and P=323.11 million as at
December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively (Note 10).

6. Segment Information

The Group’s malls and BPO centers are all located in the Philippines and are treated as one operating
segment.  The real estate development of the Parent Company is very minimal to the overall
operations and financial position of the Group as of December 31, 2017 and 2016.  These were not
treated as a separate segment by the chief operating decision maker for its review, evaluation and
allocation of resources.

The Group has operating lease agreements with All Value Holdings, Inc. and Subsidiaries (All Value
Group), an entity under common control, which is comprised of AllHome Corp., AllDay Retail
Concepts, Inc. and Family Shoppers Unlimited Inc., for the leases of commercial spaces.  Revenue
earned from All Value Group which is engaged in retail businesses covering supermarkets, retail of
apparel, construction materials and home/building appliances and furnishings constitutes more than
10% of the Group’s total revenue in 2017, 2016 and 2015.

The leasing operations have no noted significant seasonality in operations.
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7. Cash

This account consists of:

2017 2016
Cash on hand P=345,500 P=349,500
Cash in banks 572,016,219 427,886,299

P=572,361,719 P=428,235,799

Cash in banks earns interest at the prevailing bank deposit rates.  Interest rate ranges from 1.00% to
2.00% and 1.20% to 2.00% in 2017 and 2016, respectively.

Interest earned from cash in banks for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015 amounted
to P=3.62 million, P=2.23 million and P=10.72 million, respectively (Note 21).

8. Available-For-Sale Financial Assets

This account consists of:

2017 2016
Current

Investment in mutual funds P=34,551,067 P=31,588,143
Noncurrent

Quoted equity securities 4,506,032,203 3,723,430,664
Unquoted equity securities 3,204,170 3,204,170

4,509,236,373 3,726,634,834
P=4,543,787,440 P=3,758,222,977

The rollforward of the carrying amounts of AFS financial assets are as follows:

2017 2016
Balance at beginning of year P=3,758,222,977 P=3,936,604,709
Additions 29,391,839
Unrealized gains (losses) recognized in OCI 785,564,463 (207,773,571)
Balance at end of year P=4,543,787,440 P=3,758,222,977

The movements in the unrealized gain (losses) for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and
2015 follows:

2017 2016 2015
Balance at beginning of year (P=1,682,661,829) (P=1,474,888,258) P=14,443,483
Unrealized fair value gains (losses) on

investment in mutual funds  2,962,924 (5,373,842) 9,254,010
Unrealized fair value gains (losses) on

quoted equity securities 782,601,539 (202,399,729)  (1,481,850,184)
Fair value loss on AFS financial assets

reclassified to profit or loss  (16,735,567)
Balance at end of year (P=897,097,366) (P=1,682,661,829) (P=1,474,888,258)
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Investment in quoted equity securities represents investment in shares of stock of Vista Land
representing 752.21 million shares.

In 2015, the Group disposed AFS financial assets amounting to P=312.95 million.  The unrealized gain
amounting to P=16.74 million previously recognized under other comprehensive income were
reclassified to profit or loss upon realization. There were no other disposals in 2017 and 2016.

No AFS financial assets are used to secure the obligations of the Group (Note 16).

9. Receivables

This account consists of:

2017 2016
Trade receivables from tenants:

Related parties P=4,150,155,998 P=2,744,625,517
Third party 978,176,607 951,006,150

Advances to contractors and suppliers 1,660,239,524 357,772,814
Installment contracts receivable 58,788,066 57,009,370
Others 32,608,464 5,845,185

6,879,968,659 4,116,259,036
Less allowance for impairment losses (55,266,721) (51,583,377)

6,824,701,938 4,064,675,659
Less noncurrent portion (11,730,831) (10,428,875)

P=6,812,971,107 P=4,054,246,784

Trade receivables from tenants
Trade receivables from tenants arise from lease operations of retail malls and BPO commercial
centers and are collectible within 30 days from billing date.  These are covered by security deposit
equivalent to three-month rental.  This includes both the fixed and contingent portion of lease and the
effect of straight-line recognition of contractual rent income.

Advances to contractors and suppliers
Advances to contractors and suppliers are advance payments in relation to the Group’s construction
activities and purchases of owner supplied materials. These are recouped from settlement of progress
billings statements which are expected to occur within one year from the date of payment.

Installment contracts receivable
Installment contracts receivable consist of accounts collectible in equal monthly installments with
various terms up to a maximum of 15 years.  These are carried at amortized cost.  The corresponding
titles to the subdivision or condominium units sold under this arrangement are transferred to the
buyers only upon full payment of the contract price.  Annual interest rates on installment contracts
receivables range from 18.00% to 19.00%.  Total interest income recognized amounted to
P=3.91 million, P=1.79 million and P=2.70 million in 2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively (Note 21).

Others
Others include receivables from employees which are collectible through salary deductions. These are
noninterest bearing and has various maturity dates.
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Movements in allowance for doubtful accounts on trade receivables from tenants follow:

2017 2016
Balance at beginning of year P=51,583,377 P=50,000,667
Provisions (Note 20) 3,683,344 1,582,710
Balance at end of year P=55,266,721 P=51,583,377

The impairment losses above pertain to individually impaired accounts.  No impairment losses
resulted from performing collective impairment test.

No receivables are used to secure the obligations of the Group (Note 16).

10. Real Estate Properties for Sale

This account consists of:

2017 2016
Lot inventory P=167,062,069 P=166,586,560
Residential units for sale 155,028,364 156,526,016

P=322,090,433 P=323,112,576

The real estate properties for sale are carried at cost.  No inventories are recorded at amounts lower
than cost in 2017 and 2016.

 Residential properties for sale represent lots or houses and lots in completed subdivision projects for
which the Group has already been granted the License to Sell (LTS) by the Housing and Land Use
Regulatory Board of the Philippines.

 Cost of real estate sales includes acquisition cost of raw land, subdivision and development costs paid
to contractors and other costs attributable to bringing the real estate properties for sale to its intended
condition.

 Except as stated, the real estate properties for sale are not used to secure borrowings of the Group
(Note 16).
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11. Prepayments and Other Assets

This account consists of:

2017 2016
Current

Input VAT P=1,252,230,701 P=1,316,575,547
Prepayments 119,501,486 57,580,403
Refundable deposits 82,811,563
Creditable withholding taxes 4,996,213 14,979,029
Others 13,246,445 13,789,228

1,472,786,408 1,402,924,207
Noncurrent

Cash restricted for use (Note 16) 934,178,185 500,630,394
Refundable deposits 105,262,359 151,876,915

1,039,440,544 652,507,309
P=2,512,226,952 P=2,055,431,516

Input VAT is a tax imposed on purchases of goods, professional and consulting services and
construction costs.  These are available for offset against output VAT in future periods.

Prepayments pertain to prepaid taxes, insurance premiums, employee benefits and rent, which will be
utilized within 12 months from the end of the reporting period.

Refundable deposits pertain to deposits on utility subscriptions, rental deposits and security deposits.
These deposits shall be applied against unpaid utility expenses and rent expenses upon termination of
the contracts.  These deposits are necessary for the continuing construction and development of retail
malls and BPO commercial centers of the Group.

Creditable withholding taxes pertain to taxes withheld by the customer and are recoverable and can
be applied against income tax in future periods. As at December 31, 2017 and 2016, the Group
applied creditable withholding taxes amounting to P=96.62 million and P=59.21 million, respectively.

Cash restricted for use are bank deposits restricted solely for payment of the principal amortization
and interest of certain bank loans.  These deposits bear prevailing interest rates and will be retained as
deposits until the bank loans are fully paid.  The bank loans to which these deposits were maintained
will be due in 2020. Deposit balance should be equivalent to two quarters of debt amortization.
Interest income from cash restricted for use amounted to P=6.19 million, P=4.73 million and
P=1.45 million in 2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively (Note 21).
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12. Property and Equipment

The rollforward analysis of this account follows:

December 31, 2017
Office and

Other Equipment
Transportation

Equipment
Construction

Equipment Total
Cost
Balances at beginning of year P=95,619,550 P=15,403,045 P=7,552,918 P=118,575,513
Additions 19,401,642 8,022,847 3,167,118 30,591,607
Balances at end of year 115,021,192 23,425,892 10,720,036 149,167,120
Accumulated Depreciation
Balances at beginning of year 53,995,429 6,878,024 5,910,764 66,784,217
Depreciation 24,634,161 2,994,145 2,911,926 30,540,232
Balances at end of year 78,629,590 9,872,169 8,822,690 97,324,449
Net Book Value P=36,391,602 P=13,553,723 P=1,897,346 P=51,842,671

December 31, 2016
Office and

Other Equipment
Transportation

Equipment
Construction

Equipment Total
Cost
Balances at beginning of year P=84,884,152 P=9,876,969 P=4,806,879 P=99,568,000
Additions 6,585,075 5,526,076 2,746,039 14,857,190
Retirement (160,652) (160,652)
Transfers from investment properties

(Note 13) 4,310,975 4,310,975
Balances at end of year 95,619,550 15,403,045 7,552,918 118,575,513
Accumulated Depreciation
Balances at beginning of year 30,254,374 4,640,032 3,641,433 38,535,839
Depreciation 23,859,312 2,237,992 2,269,331 28,366,635
Retirements (118,257) (118,257)
Balances at end of year 53,995,429 6,878,024 5,910,764 66,784,217
Net Book Value P=41,624,121 P=8,525,021 P=1,642,154 P=51,791,296

In 2016, the Group transferred construction in progress amounting P=4.31 million that were
reclassified to be used for normal operations and not for commercial or retail purposes (Note 13).

In 2016, the Group disposed various office equipment resulting to loss on retirement amounting
to P=0.04 million. There are no disposal of property and equipment in 2017.

As at December 31, 2017 and 2016, cost of fully depreciated assets that are still actively in use
amounted to P=36.59 million and P=29.12 million, respectively.

 Except as stated, the property and equipment are not used to secure borrowings of the Group
(Note 16).
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13. Investment Properties

The rollforward analysis of this account follows:

December 31, 2017

Land

Building
and Building

Improvements
Construction in

Progress Total
Cost
Balances at beginning of year P=7,982,838,511 P=16,588,558,789 P=1,017,814,439 P=25,589,211,739
Additions 1,191,228,098 685,334,136 2,595,287,164 4,471,849,398
Reclassification 37,059,429  1,441,717,596  (1,478,777,025)
Retirement  (57,857) (57,857)
Balances at end of year 9,211,126,038 18,715,552,664 2,134,324,578 30,061,003,280
Accumulated Depreciation
Balances at beginning of year 3,560,742,261 3,560,742,261
Depreciation 919,578,289 919,578,289
Retirement  (57,857) (57,857)
Balances at end of year 4,480,262,693 4,480,262,693
Net Book Value P=9,211,126,038 P=14,235,289,971 P=2,134,324,578 25,580,740,587

December 31, 2016

Land

Building
and Building

Improvements
Construction in

Progress Total
Cost
Balances at beginning of year P=7,725,796,111 P=8,561,042,910 P=5,738,518,894 P=22,025,357,915
Additions 541,645,274 914,709,339 2,397,006,896 3,853,361,509
Derecognition (Note 14) (285,196,710) (285,196,710)
Reclassification 593,836 7,112,806,540 (7,113,400,376)
Transfers to property and equipment

(Note 12) (4,310,975) (4,310,975)
Balances at end of year 7,982,838,511 16,588,558,789 1,017,814,439 25,589,211,739
Accumulated Depreciation
Balances at beginning of year 2,871,198,678 2,871,198,678
Depreciation 689,543,583 689,543,583
Balances at end of year 3,560,742,261 3,560,742,261
Net Book Value P=7,982,838,511 P=13,027,816,528 P=1,017,814,439 P=22,028,469,478

Investment properties consist mainly of land and commercial centers that are held to earn rental
income.  These include Vista Malls and Starmalls that are located in key cities and municipalities in
the Philippines and three BPO commercial centers in Metro Manila, with a combined gross floor area
of 844,537 square meters.  The construction in progress represents capitalized costs arising from a
construction of commercial centers that are located in Taguig City, Las Piñas City, Cavite, Davao,
Naga and Cagayan de Oro which are due to be completed in 2018 to 2020.

The reclassification of P=1,478.78 million in 2017 from construction in progress to building and
improvements represents completed BPO commercial center in Taguig and Vista Malls in Molino,
Kawit, Las Piñas and Talisay Cebu, with gross floor area of 113,327 square meters.

Rental income earned from investment properties amounted to P=4,798.60 million, P=4,077.94 million
and P=2,380.18 million in 2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively.  Repairs and maintenance costs incurred
arising from the investment properties amounted to P=96.24 million, P=85.35 million and
P=58.03 million for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively.  Cost of
property operations amounted to P=2,165.47 million, P=1,862.40 million and P=1,281.82 million for the
years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015.  For the terms and conditions on the lease, refer to
Note 28.



- 31 -

*SGVFS029865*

The Group has no restrictions on the realizability of its investment properties and no contractual
obligations to either purchase or construct or develop investment properties or for repairs,
maintenance and enhancements.

Borrowing cost capitalized to investment properties in 2017, 2016 and 2015 amounted to
P=406.28 million, P=665.88 million and P=468.63 million, respectively, representing the actual
borrowing costs incurred on loans obtained to fund the construction projects (Note 21).  The range of
capitalization rate used was 4.50% to 7.25% in 2017, 2016 and 2015.

Investment properties with total carrying amount of P=9,666.06 million and P=8,764.94 million as at
December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively, are used as collaterals for loans obtained from local banks
(Note 16).

In 2017 and 2016, the Group secured the services of an independent firm of appraisers to determine
the fair market values of the Group’s investment properties as at December 31, 2017 and 2016.  The
fair value was determined by an SEC accredited external valuer. Fair value of investment properties
amounted to P=39,307.22 million and P=34,799.20 million as at December 31, 2017 and 2016,
respectively.

Fair market value of investment properties were determined by reference to market-based evidence,
which is the amount for which the assets could be exchanged between a knowledgeable willing buyer
and seller in an arm’s length transaction as at the valuation date.

14. Liability for Purchased Land

The rollforward analysis of this account follows:

2017 2016
Balance at beginning of year P=302,286,240 P=552,155,604
Additions 1,228,314,517 542,239,110
Payments (708,161,444) (506,911,764)
Cancellation (Note 13) (285,196,710)
Balance at end of year 822,439,313 P=302,286,240
Less noncurrent portion (244,741,560) (222,641,520)

P=577,697,753 P=79,644,720

Liabilities for purchased land are payables to various real estate property sellers.  Under the terms of
the agreements executed by the Group covering the purchase of certain real estate properties, the titles
of the subject properties shall be transferred to the Group only upon full payment of the real estate
payables. Liabilities for purchased land that are payable beyond one year from year end date are
reported as noncurrent liabilities.

In 2016, the Group cancelled the purchase of land in 2014 resulting to cancellation of related liability
for land acquisition and derecognition of the corresponding land recorded under investment properties
with a cost of P=285.20 million (Note 13).
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15. Trade and Other Payables

This account consists of:

2017 2016
Accounts payable:

Supplier P=1,037,803,325 P=544,201,883
Contractors 120,810,190 45,059,734
Government 13,401,511 2,212,585

Current portion of:
Security deposit 177,639,096
Retention payable 34,244,700 509,497,273
Construction payable 15,750,596

Accrued expenses 346,446,662 383,113,669
Deferred output VAT 101,428,017 316,466,794
Other payables 69,344,525 63,880,681

P=1,916,868,622 P=1,864,432,619

Accounts payable - suppliers
Accounts payable - suppliers represent construction materials, marketing collaterals, office supplies
and property and equipment ordered and delivered but not yet due.

Accounts payable - contractors
Accounts payable - contractors pertain to contractors’ billings for construction services related to the
development of various projects of the Group.

Accounts payable - government
Accounts payable - government represent registration fees, building permit, documentary stamp taxes
and real property taxes due to the government and other regulatory bodies.

Current portion of security deposit
Security deposits pertain to the three-month rental and three-month advance rental paid by the lessees
as required under lease contracts, which will be refunded upon termination of the lease term or
applied to unpaid rentals and damages. Security deposit that are payable beyond one year from year
end date are presented as noncurrent liability (Note 17).

Current portion of retention payable
Retention payable pertains to 10.00% retention from the contractors’ progress billings which will be
released after the completion of contractors’ project.  The 10.00% retention serves as a holdout
amount withheld from the contractor to cover for back charges that may arise from quality issues in
affected projects.  Retention payables that are payable beyond one year from year end date are
presented as noncurrent liability (Note 17).

Current portion of construction bond
Construction bond pertains to the deposits made by the tenants which is payable prior to the start of
construction of the leased space and to be refunded upon receipt of final clearance to operate.
Construction bond that are payable beyond one year from year end date are presented as noncurrent
liability (Note 17).
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Accrued expenses
Accrued expenses represent the accrual for rentals, interest on loans, external contracted services and
other administrative expenses which are expected to be settled within 12 months after the end of the
reporting period. Details of accrued expenses as follow:

2017 2016
Rental P=247,118,202 P=239,101,859
Interest 58,858,749 71,072,439
Agency services 9,766,778 10,779,599
Security 9,518,242 19,563,564
Others 21,184,691 42,596,208

P=346,446,662 P=383,113,669

Deferred output VAT
Deferred output VAT pertains to the output VAT of the Group on unpaid portion of recognized
receivable from leasing operations.  This amount is presented as output VAT upon collection of the
receivables.

Other payables
Other payables mostly include payables for janitorial, professional fees, light and power, building
maintenance and dues to be remitted to Social Security System, Philippine Health Insurance
Corporation and Home Development Mutual Fund. These are noninterest-bearing and are normally
settled within one year.
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MAPI

In May 2012, MAPI obtained a secured loan from a local bank amounting to P=420.00 million to
finance the construction of Starmall San Jose del Monte.  As at December 31, 2016, the outstanding
balance of loan amounted to P=52.50 million and was fully paid in May 2017.  The loan provide for
the Group to observe certain covenants including, among others, incurrence of additional debt; grant
of security interest; payment of dividends; mergers, acquisitions and disposals; and certain other
covenants.

In 2013 and 2014, MAPI entered into a secured term loan agreement with a local bank for a total
credit line of P=2,700.00 million.  As of December 31, 2017, a total of P=2,300.00 million has been
drawn from this secured facility to finance the construction of various ongoing projects of MAPI.
The loans have maturities beginning December 2015 to August 2020 and bear annual interest rates
ranging from 5.75% to 6.12%.  The loan requires MAPI to maintain a current ratio of not lower than
1.25:1:00 and debt-equity ratio of not higher than 3.00:1.00.  These were complied with by MAPI as
at December 31, 2017 and 2016.  As at December 31, 2017 and 2016, outstanding balance of the
loans amounted to P=1,321.88 million and P=1,801.15 million, respectively.

MAPI is also required to maintain a reserve fund for its future loan and interest repayments.  In
accordance with the agreement, MAPI maintains a reserve fund amounting to P=808.02 million and
P=374.48 million for loan with outstanding balance of P=3,754.46 million and P=4,074.78 million as at
December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively. The cash restricted for use is presented under “Other
noncurrent assets” account in the consolidated statements of financial position (Note 11).

In connection with the loan, MAPI agreed to execute a negative pledge over certain real properties
with carrying amount of P=9,666.06 million and P=8,764.94 million as at December 31, 2017 and 2016,
respectively (Note 12).  MAPI cannot allow any other indebtedness to be secured by the covered real
properties nor permit any other creditor to receive any priority or preference over the covered real
properties, without written consent from the local bank.

In December 2014, MAPI entered into a secured term loan agreement with a local bank amounting to
P=366.00 million also primarily to finance various ongoing mall constructions.  The loan has
maturities beginning December 2014 to December 2019 and bears annual interest of 6.25%.  As at
December 31, 2017 and 2016, outstanding balance of the loans amounted to P=182.34 million and
P=273.11 million, respectively.

In 2015, MAPI entered into a secured term loan agreement with a local bank amounting to
P=2,273.62 million primarily to finance various ongoing mall constructions.  The loans have maturities
of seven years from the date of drawdown and bear an annual fixed interest rate of 5.46%.  As at
December 31, 2017 and 2016, outstanding balance of the loans amounted to P=1,932.58 million and
P=2,273.62 million, respectively.

In July 2017, MAPI obtained a 10-year unsecured peso denominated loan from a local bank
amounting to P=500.00 million which bears annual fixed interest rate of 6.23%.  The principal balance
of the loan will be paid in thirty two (32) equal quarterly installments commencing on the ninth
interest payment date.  The loan requires MAPI to maintain a current ratio of at least 1.00:1.00,
debt-to-equity ratio of 2.50:1.00 and a DSCR of at least 1.00:100.  These were complied with by
MAPI as at December 31, 2017.  The outstanding balance as at December 31, 2017 amounted to
P=500.00 million.
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MC

In 2012 and 2013, MC obtained various term loans from local banks to finance the upgrade of the air
conditioning systems of Starmall EDSA - Shaw and Starmall Alabang.  The loans have maturities
from October 2014 to February 2020 and bear an annual fixed interest rates ranging from 7.00% to
7.25%.  As at December 31, 2017 and 2016, outstanding balance of the loans amounted to
P=122.13 million and P=257.56 million, respectively.

In 2014, MC obtained various unsecured loans from a local bank to finance the upgrade of the air
conditioning systems of Starmall Las Piñas - Main and Starmall Las Piñas - Annex and the
acquisition of generator set upgrades for all the malls of MC.  The loans have maturities of five years
from the date of drawdown and bear fixed annual interest rate of 5.75%.  The loan requires MC to
maintain a current ratio of not lower than 1.10:1:00 and debt-equity ratio of not higher than 3.00:1.00.
These were complied with by MC as at December 31, 2017 and 2016.  As at December 31, 2017 and
2016, outstanding balance of loans amounted to P=151.76 million and P=231.76 million, respectively.

In July 2015, MC obtained a loan from a local bank worth P=4,000.00 million which was used solely
for capital expenditure and general corporate purposes and has a maturity of seven years from the
date of drawdown and bears an annual fixed interest rate of 5.75%.  Real estate contracts of MC as
well as investment properties in Starmall Alabang are used as a mortgage for this loan.  The loan
requires MC to maintain a current ratio of not lower than 1.10:1:00 and debt-equity ratio of not higher
than 3.00:1.00.  These were complied with by MC as at December 31, 2017 and 2016.  As at
December 31, 2017 and 2016, outstanding balance of loans amounted to P=3,318.97 million and
P=3,756.12 million, respectively.

MC is also required to maintain a reserve fund for its future loan and interest repayments.  In
accordance with the agreement, MC maintains a reserve fund amounting to P=126.15 million for loan
with outstanding balance of P=110.00 million and P=156.54 million as at December 31, 2017 and 2016,
respectively. The cash restricted for use is presented under “Other noncurrent assets” account in the
consolidated statements of financial position (Note 11).

17. Other Noncurrent Liabilities

This account consists of:

2017 2016
Security deposits - net of current portion (Note 15) P=471,484,056 P=572,642,162
Retention payable - net of current portion (Note 15) 222,611,371
Construction bond - net of current portion (Note 15) 33,086,934 35,406,727
Others 5,188,421 6,960,784
Total P=732,370,782 P=615,009,673
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18. Equity

Capital Stock
This account consists of:

Shares Amount
Preferred - voting, cumulative, non-participating,
non-convertible, non-redeemable - P=0.01 par value

Authorized 10,000,000,000 P=100,000,000
Issued and outstanding 2,350,000,000 23,500,000

Common shares - P=1.00 par value
Authorized 16,900,000,000 16,900,000,000
Issued and outstanding 8,425,981,156 8,425,981,156

Registration Track Record
On November 13, 1970, the SEC approved the listing of the Parent Company’s common shares
totaling 1,000.00 million. The shares were initially issued at an offer price of P=0.01 per share.

Below is the summary of the Parent Company’s track record of registration of securities with the SEC
as at December 31, 2017:

Number of Shares
Registered

Number of holders of
 securities as of year end

December 31, 2015 8,425,981,156 440
Add/(Deduct) Movement
December 31, 2016 8,425,981,156 440
Add/(Deduct) Movement
December 31, 2017 8,425,981,156 440

Retained Earnings
In accordance with SRC Rule No. 68, As Amended (2011), Annex 68-C, the Parent Company’s
retained earnings available for dividend declaration as of December 31, 2017, after reconciling items,
amounted to P=1,914.46 million.

Retained earnings include the accumulated equity in undistributed earnings of consolidated
subsidiaries of P=4,518.94 million, P=2,469.16 million and P=960.12 million in 2017, 2016 and 2015,
respectively.  These are not available for dividends until declared by the subsidiaries.

On September 26, 2016, the BOD approved the declaration of cash dividends amounting
P=181.16 million or P=0.0215 per share, payable to all stockholders of record as of October 11, 2016.
The said dividends were paid on October 26, 2016.

On September 29, 2017, the BOD approved the declaration of cash dividends amounting
P=310.08 million or P=0.1342 per share, payable to all stockholders of record as of October 16, 2017.
The said dividends were paid on October 26, 2017.

As at December 31, 2017 and 2016, unpaid dividends amounted to P=0.03 million for each year.
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Capital Management
The primary objective of the Group’s capital management policy is to ensure that debt and equity
capital are mobilized efficiently to support business objectives and maximize shareholder value.  The
Group establishes the appropriate capital structure for each business line that properly reflects its
premier credit rating and allows it the financial flexibility, while providing it sufficient cushion to
absorb cyclical industry risks.

The Group considers debt as a stable source of funding.  The Group may lengthen the maturity profile
of its debt portfolio in order to spread out its debt maturities by not having a significant percentage of
its total debt maturing in a single year.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in the light of changes in
economic conditions.  It monitors capital using leverage ratios on both a gross debt and net debt basis.

As at December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015, the Group had the following ratios:

2017 2016 2015
Current ratio 0.87 1.06 2.20
Debt-to-equity ratio 0.41 0.49 0.67
Net debt-to-equity ratio 0.38 0.47 0.61
Asset-to-equity ratio 2.20 1.98 1.88

As at December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015, the Group had complied with all externally imposed
capital requirements (Note 16).  No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes for
managing capital during the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015.

The Group considers as capital the equity attributable to equity holders of the Parent Company.

The following table shows the component of the Group’s equity which it manages as capital as at
December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015:

2017 2016 2015
Total paid-up capital P=14,838,795,510 P=14,838,795,510 P=14,838,795,510
Retained earnings 6,433,402,872 4,703,708,769 3,347,702,798
Other comprehensive income (763,856,172) (1,535,612,600) (1,343,564,493)

P=20,508,342,210 P=18,006,891,679 P=16,842,933,815

19. Pension Liabilities

The Group has unfunded, noncontributory, defined benefit pension plan covering substantially all of
its regular employees.  The benefits are based on current salaries and years of service and
compensation on the last year of employment as defined under Philippine Republic Act 7641.  The
retirement is the only long-term employee benefit.

The most recent actuarial valuation was performed by a professionally qualified external actuary.

The principal actuarial assumptions used to determine the pension benefits with respect to the
discount rate, salary increases and return on plan assets were based on historical and projected normal
rates.
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The components of pension expense follow:

2017 2016 2015
Current service cost P=2,931,969 P=7,799,006 P=9,348,615
Interest cost 6,072,670 2,899,717 1,868,123
Total pension expense P=9,004,639 P=10,698,723 P=11,216,738

Changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligation follow:

2017 2016 2015
Balance at beginning of year P=40,418,438 P=60,696,193  P=50,819,318
Current service cost 2,931,969 7,799,006 9,348,615
Interest cost 6,072,670 2,899,717 1,868,123
Actuarial losses (gains) 1,343,136 (17,761,119) (1,339,863)
Transfer out (13,215,359) –
Balance at end of year P=50,766,213 P=40,418,438 P=60,696,193

In 2016, pension liability amounting P=13.22 million pertaining to a former key officer of the Parent
Company was transferred out to a related party which is an entity under common control.

Remeasurement effect recognized in OCI:

2017 2016 2015
Actuarial losses (gains) due to:

Experience adjustments P=3,423,708 (P=955,758) (P=2,101)
Changes in financial
   assumptions (1,995,619)  (16,668,929)  (1,337,762)
Changes in demographic
   assumptions  (84,953)  (136,432)  

P=1,343,136 (P=17,761,119) (P=1,339,863)

The assumptions used to determine the pension benefits for the Group are as follows:

2017 2016 2015
Discount rates 4.88% to 5.80% 4.88% to 5.60% 4.58% to 5.00%
Salary increase rate 7.00% to 11.00% 7.00% to 11.00% 7.00% to 11.00%

Shown below is the maturity analysis of the undiscounted benefit payments:

Plan Year 2017 2016
Less than 1 year P=1,862,409 P=1,629,608
More than 1 year to 5 years 5,334,761
More than 5 years to 10 years 25,109,187 14,855,411
More than 10 years to 15 years 47,343,023 69,935,630
More than 15 years to 20 years 678,465,952 514,890,979

P=758,115,332 P=601,311,628

The average duration of retirement life is 14 years.
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Sensitivity analysis on the actuarial assumptions
Each sensitivity analysis on the significant actuarial assumptions was prepared by remeasuring the
Defined Benefit Obligation (DBO) at the reporting date after adjusting one of the current assumptions
according to the applicable sensitivity increment or decrement (based on changes in the relevant
assumption that were reasonably possible at the valuation date) while all other assumptions remained
unchanged.  The sensitivities were expressed as the corresponding change in the DBO.

It should be noted that the changes assumed to be reasonably possible at the valuation date are open
to subjectivity, and do not consider more complex scenarios in which changes other than those
assumed may be deemed to be more reasonable.

Discount rate +1.00% P=46,824,863
-1.00% 55,126,173

Salary increase +1.00% P=54,913,556
-1.00% 46,967,315

20. Other Operating Income and Expenses

Presented below are the details of other operating income and expenses for the years ended
December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015.

Other operating income
This account consists of:

2017 2016 2015
Administrative fees P=219,015,573 P=184,346,671 P=159,339,357
Mall maintenance and security fees 96,319,023 60,732,762 63,658,174
Advertising fees 33,112,574 22,940,522 18,953,077
Realized gross profit on real estate sales 10,904,393 2,611,244
Penalties and surcharges 5,567,250 3,430,654 2,397,018
Forfeited deposits and advances 2,577,099 14,474,972 8,693,583
Gain on derecognition of liabilities 1,451,058 17,750,625
Miscellaneous 13,996,083 5,671,627 2,876,343

P=381,491,995 P=295,659,510 P=273,668,177

Administrative fees pertain to service fees for the Group’s administration of commercial spaces for
the tenants which are marked up on monthly billings. This account also include excess collection of
other charges paid in advance by the Group in behalf of the tenants.
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Other operating expense
This account consists of:

2017 2016 2015
Representation and entertainment P=29,667,709 P=20,259,140 P=19,068,837
Transportation and travel 9,442,576 4,509,850 8,378,303
Registration fees 5,309,702 3,227,327 2,774,953
Supplies 4,782,498 4,644,017 6,816,852
Commission 4,017,509 2,995,020 757,507
Training 3,821,342 3,686,851 3,894,973
Impairment loss on accounts receivables

(Note 9) 3,683,344 1,582,710 50,544,672
Documentation fee 262,440 92,832 -
Dues and subscriptions 15,120 144,785 717,188
Penalties and surcharges 3,782,858
Miscellaneous 9,576,745 1,191,303 6,259,676

P=70,578,985 P=46,116,693 P=99,212,961

21. Interest Income and Expense

Interest income consist of:

2017 2016 2015
Interest income from tenants P=11,076,380 P=2,875,108 P=5,268,323
Interest income from cash

restricted for use (Note 11) 6,185,652 4,729,068 1,454,201
Interest income from installment

contracts receivables and
accretion of discount
(Note 9) 3,913,948 1,786,162 2,703,972

Interest income from cash and
cash equivalents (Note 7) 3,616,450 2,225,883 10,720,005

Interest income from AFS
financial assets 3,770,850

P=24,792,430 P=11,616,221 P=23,917,351

Interest expense consist of:

2017 2016 2015
Interest on loans and borrowings

(Note 16) P=450,712,527 P=966,615,695 P=518,965,857
Bank charges 209,418 180,136 190,877

450,921,945 966,795,831 519,156,734
Amounts capitalized (Note 13) 406,277,005 665,878,430 468,626,751

P=44,644,940 P=300,917,401 P=50,529,983
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22. Income Tax

Provision for income tax consists of:

2017 2016 2015
Current:

RCIT P=205,201,944 P=185,058,569 P=135,343,514
Final 1,983,130 490,405 1,079,166

Deferred 676,734,572 505,120,498 268,825,171
P=883,919,646 P=690,669,472 P=405,247,851

Creditable withholding tax offset against income tax payable are disclosed in Note 11.

The components of the Group’s deferred tax assets (liabilities) are as follows:

2017 2016
Deferred tax assets on:

Straight lining of rent expense P=90,975,027 P=80,691,004
Allowance for impairment 16,580,017 15,475,014
Accrual of retirement costs 14,752,430 10,443,698
MCIT 26,835,665
NOLCO 23,689,729
Deferred gross profit 559,450

122,307,474 157,694,560
Deferred tax liabilities on:

Straight lining of rent income (1,148,711,064) (615,532,454)
Capitalized interest and other expenses (503,951,115) (395,379,298)

(1,652,662,179) (1,010,911,752)
(P=1,530,354,705) (P=853,217,192)

As at December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015, the Group has deductible temporary differences, NOLCO
and MCIT that are available for offset against future taxable income for which no deferred tax assets
have been recognized as follows:

2017 2016
NOLCO P=82,157,735 P=80,665,746
Accrual of retirement cost 19,605,535 18,821,470
MCIT 322,344 298,132

P=102,085,614 P=99,785,348

The related unrecognized deferred tax assets on these deductible temporary differences amounted to
P=30.85 million and P=30.14 million as at December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively.

Deferred tax assets are recognized only to the extent that taxable income will be available against
which the deferred tax assets can be used.  The subsidiaries will recognize a previously unrecognized
deferred tax asset to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable income will allow the
deferred tax asset to be recovered.
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As at December 31, 2017, the details of the unused tax credits from the excess of the MCIT over
RCIT and NOLCO, which are available for offset against future income tax payable and taxable
income, respectively, over a period of three years from the year of inception, follow:

NOLCO

Inception Year Amount Used/Expired Balance Expiry Year
2014 P=71,673,745 71,673,745 P= 2017
2015 58,433,758 33,842,470 24,591,288 2018
2016 49,288,133 49,288,133 2019
2017 8,278,314 8,278,314 2020

P=187,673,950 P=105,516,215 P=82,157,735

MCIT

Inception Year Amount Used/Expired Balance Expiry Year
2014 P=3,610,513 P=3,610,513 P= 2017
2015 6,606,566 6,476,222 130,344 2018
2016 16,773,141 16,677,141 96,000 2019
2017 96,000 96,000 2020

P=27,086,220 P=26,763,876 P=322,344

The reconciliation of the provision for income tax computed at the statutory income tax rate to the
provision for income tax shown in profit or loss follows:

2017 2016 2015
Provision for income tax at statutory income

tax rate 30.00% 30.00% 30.00%
Tax effects of:

Nondeductible interest and other expenses 0.10% 0.07% 0.10%
Income already subjected to final tax (0.10%) (0.01%) (0.12%)
Expiration of NOLCO and MCIT 0.07% 0.15% 0.36%
Unrecognized DTA on temporary

differences during the year (0.06%) 0.59% 0.60%
Provision for income tax 30.01% 30.80% 30.94%

23. Related Party Transactions

 Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control the
other party in making financial and operating decisions or the parties are subject to common control
or common significant influence.  Entities under common control are those entities outside the Group
but are related parties of Fine Properties, Inc.  Related parties may be individuals or corporate
entities.
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 The consolidated statements of financial position include the following amounts resulting from the
foregoing transactions which represent amounts receivable (payable) with related parties as of
December 31, 2017 and 2016:

December 31, 2017

Nature Volume Amount Terms Conditions
Trade receivables (Note 9)

Ultimate Parent Company
        (a) Rental of office spaces P=1,353,387 P=405,861 Due and demandable;

noninterest-bearing
Unsecured; no

impairment

Parent Company
    (a) Rental of office spaces 1,005,932 662,226 Due and demandable;

noninterest-bearing
Unsecured; no

impairment

Other related parties
(a) Rental of mall and office spaces 2,454,286,691 4,149,087,911 Due and demandable;

noninterest-bearing
Unsecured; no

impairment
 4,150,155,998

Receivables from related parties
Ultimate Parent Company
    (b) Advances 194,474,977 194,474,976 Due and demandable;

noninterest-bearing
Unsecured; no

impairment
    (c) Sale of VLLI shares  1,960,071,562 Due and demandable;

noninterest-bearing
Unsecured; no

impairment

Other related parties
    (b) Advances

1,615,505,110

2,600,010,624 Due and demandable;
noninterest-bearing

Unsecured; no
impairment

168,092,001 Noninterest-bearing Unsecured; no
impairment

 4,922,649,163
Payables to related parties

Ultimate Parent Company
    (d) Dividends 4,227,509 Due and demandable;

noninterest-bearing
Unsecured

Parent Company
    (b) Advances (7,031,839,944) (11,699,707,437) Due and demandable;

noninterest-bearing
Unsecured

    (d) Dividends 273,909,489 Due and demandable;
noninterest-bearing

Unsecured

Other related parties
    (b) Advances 176,930,156 (214,663,688) Due and demandable;

noninterest-bearing
Unsecured

 (11,914,371,125)
Dividends payable (Note 18)
Other stockholders

(d) Dividends 31,939,108 (275,118) Due and demandable;
noninterest-bearing

Unsecured

 (P=2,841,841,082)
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December 31, 2016

Nature Volume Amount Terms Conditions
Trade receivables (Note 9)

Ultimate Parent Company
 (a) Rental of office spaces P=1,689,232 P=30,312 Due and demandable;

noninterest-bearing
Unsecured; no

impairment

Parent Company
 (a) Rental of office spaces 914,484 430,017 Due and demandable;

noninterest-bearing
Unsecured; no

impairment

Other related parties
(a) Rental of mall and office spaces 1,760,341,888 2,744,165,188 Due and demandable;

noninterest-bearing
Unsecured; no

impairment
 2,744,625,517

Receivables from related parties
Ultimate Parent Company
    (b) Advances 362,520  Due and demandable;

noninterest-bearing
Unsecured; no

impairment
    (c) Sale of VLLI shares (67,500,000) 1,960,071,562 Due and demandable;

noninterest-bearing
Unsecured; no

impairment

Other related parties

    (b) Advances
(702,070,557) 1,152,597,515 Due and demandable;

noninterest-bearing
Unsecured; no

impairment
 3,112,669,077

Payables to related parties
Ultimate Parent Company
    (d) Dividends 2,469,876  Due and demandable;

noninterest-bearing
Unsecured

Parent Company
    (b) Advances (4,805,772,339) (4,857,332,925) Due and demandable;

noninterest-bearing
Unsecured

    (d) Dividends 160,035,503  Due and demandable;
noninterest-bearing

Unsecured

Other related parties
    (b) Advances 415,695,521 (391,593,844) Due and demandable;

noninterest-bearing
Unsecured

 (5,248,926,769)
Dividends payable (Note 18)
Other stockholders

(d) Dividends 18,653,216 (313,216) Due and demandable;
noninterest-bearing

Unsecured

 P=608,054,609
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The significant transactions with related parties follow:

a) The Group entered into operating lease agreements with ultimate parent company, parent
company and entities under common control (referred to as “other related parties”) for the lease
of the Group’s investment properties.  The lease agreements are renewable annually and contains
escalation clauses and contingent rent portion based on percentage of sales for the period. Rental
income from related parties amounted to P=2,456.65 million and P=1,762.94 million as of
December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively.  These are due and demandable and are non-interest
bearing, unsecured and are not impaired.

On October 30, 2017, Manuela and MAPI entered into a memorandum of agreement with
AllHome Corp., an entity under common control, wherein Manuela and MAPI will offset its
receivables from AllHome Corp. relating to mall rental and other charges, against billings of
AllHome Corp to Manuela and MAPI for the supply of construction materials and home/building
appliances and furnishings.

b) The Group in its regular conduct of business has entered into transactions with ultimate parent
company, parent company and other related parties control principally consisting of noninterest
bearing advances for working capital requirements and capital expenditures which are due and
demandable.  The Group’s policy is to settle its intercompany receivables and payables on a net
basis.

c) In May 2013, the Group sold the remaining 399,397,000 shares of its investments in VLLI, with a
carrying amount of P=1,906.22 million, for a total consideration of P=2,772.30 million to Fine
Properties Inc.  The outstanding receivables as at December 31, 2017 and 2016 amounted to
P=1,960.07 million. This is noninterest bearing receivables that is due and demandable.

d) Details of dividends declared to stockholders are discussed in Note 18.

In addition, the Group served as the guarantor of the following borrowings entered into by its
related parties. The guarantee has no fee.

i. On October 4, 2013, VLL International, Inc. (VII), a related party issued US$100.00 million
bonds which are due in 2018.  On January 18, 2016, the BOD of the Group authorized to
guarantee this Note together with the subsidiaries of Vista Land. On December 21, 2017, VII
redeemed and paid $47.26 million remaining balance of the Note at 103.522% redemption
price.  The notes were fully paid as at December 31, 2017.

ii. On April 29, 2014, VII issued US$350.00 million bonds which are due in 2019.  On
January 18, 2016, the BOD of the Group authorized to guarantee this Note together with the
subsidiaries of the Vista Land. On December 21, 2017, VII redeemed and paid $105.01 million
remaining balance of the Note at 106.869% redemption price. The notes were fully paid as at
December 31, 2017.

iii. On June 18, 2015, VII issued US$300.00 million bonds which are due on
April 29, 2019 to refinance its debt and for general corporate purposes.  On January 18, 2016,
the BOD of the Group authorized to guarantee this Note together with the subsidiaries of
Vista Land.

On February 2, 2016, VII issued additional USD$125.00 million bonds with the same terms
and conditions with the above note. On September 29, 2016, VII repurchased US$54.54 million
out of the US$425.00 million notes outstanding balance prior to the repurchase date.
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iv. On December 28, 2016, Vista Land entered into a Corporate Notes Facility Agreement with
China Bank Capital Corporation for the issuance of a long term corporate notes with a principal
amount of up to P=8,000.0 million.  On April 21, 2017, a consent solicitation was made for
amendments to include among others, increasing the corporate notes principal amount to up to
P=10,000.00 million and the appointment of RCBC Capital Corporation as Co-Lead Arranger
together with the China Bank Capital Corporation in respect to the second draw down.  As part
of the issuance of the corporate notes, the Group together with the subsidiaries of Vista Land
acted as irrevocable and unconditional guarantors of the corporate notes.

The Company made certain reclassifications to the consolidated financial statement of position as at
December 31, 2016 and January 1, 2016 to align with the December 31, 2017 classification.
Receivables from ultimate parent company and from other related parties were reclassified to current
assets from noncurrent assets.  Payable to parent company was reclassified to current liabilities from
noncurrent liabilities.  Below is the summary of reclassification:

December 31, 2016
Previous balance Reclassification Revised balance

Total current assets P=6,261,684,307 P=3,091,092,279 P=9,352,776,586
Total noncurrent assets 29,560,924,071 (3,091,092,279) 26,469,831,792
Total current liabilities 3,971,615,568 4,857,332,925 8,828,948,493
Total noncurrent liabilities 13,766,163,547 (4,857,332,925) 8,908,830,622

January 1, 2016
Previous balance Reclassification Revised balance

Total current assets P=4,951,754,883 P=3,556,024,295 P=8,507,779,178
Total noncurrent assets 26,831,879,394 (3,556,024,295) 23,275,855,099
Total current liabilities 3,470,943,291 393,257,223 3,864,200,514
Total noncurrent liabilities 11,402,852,685 (393,257,223) 11,009,595,462

The above reclassifications did not impact the consolidated statements of comprehensive income and
consolidated statements of cash flows.

Key Management Personnel Compensation
The compensation of key management personnel by benefit type follows:

2017 2016 2015
Short-term employee benefits P=36,916,411 P=28,220,113 P=26,224,428
Post-employment benefits 10,780,407 9,895,231 9,348,615

P=47,696,818 P=38,115,344 P=35,573,043

24. Earnings Per Share

The following table presents information necessary to compute the EPS:

2017 2016 2015
Net profit attributable to equity

holders of Parent Company P=2,039,770,209 P=1,537,164,566 P=830,509,357
Weighted average common shares 8,425,981,156 8,425,981,156 7,092,378,517
Basic/Diluted EPS P=0.242 P=0.182 P=0.117
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The basic and dilutive earnings per share are the same due to the absence of potentially dilutive
common shares for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015.

25. Contingencies

The Group is contingently liable with respect to lease contracts and other transactions arising in the
ordinary course of business.

The Group has various contingent liabilities from legal cases arising from the ordinary course of
business which are either pending decision by the courts or are currently being contested by the
Group, the outcome of which are not presently determinable.

In the opinion of the management and its legal counsel, the eventual liability under these lawsuits or
claims, if any, will not have a material or adverse effect in the Group’s financial position and results
of operations.

26. Fair Value Determination

The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of financial
instruments by valuation technique:

Level 1: quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;
Level 2: other valuation techniques involving inputs other than quoted prices included in

Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and
Level 3: other valuation techniques involving inputs for the asset or liability that are not

based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair value of each class of financial
instrument for which it is practicable to estimate such value:

Cash: Due to the short-term nature of the account, the fair value of cash approximates the carrying
amounts in the statements of financial position.

Receivables (except for installment contracts receivables and advances to contractors and suppliers)
and receivables from related parties: Being due and demandable, carrying amounts approximate their
fair values.

Installment contracts receivables: Estimated fair value of long-term portion of installment contracts
receivables is based on the discounted value of future cash flows using the prevailing interest rates for
similar types of receivables as of the reporting date using the remaining terms of maturity.  The
discount rate used ranged from 3.08% to 4.90% in 2017 and 2.82% to 5.04% in 2016.

AFS financial assets: Fair values of equity securities are based on quoted market prices.  For AFS
investment in unquoted equity securities, these are carried and presented at cost since fair value is not
reasonably determinable due to the unpredictable nature of future cash flows and without any other
suitable methods of arriving at a reliable fair value. For investment in mutual funds, fair value is by
reference to net asset value per share.
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Trade and other payables (except for deferred output VAT and statutory obligations), dividends
payable, liability for purchased land and payables to related parties: Due to the short-term nature of
the accounts, the fair value approximate the carrying amounts in the consolidated statements of
financial position.

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings: Estimated fair values are based on the discounted value of
future cash flows using the applicable rates for similar types of loans.  Interest rates used in
discounting cash flows ranges from 5.46% to 7.25% in 2017 and 2016 using the remaining terms to
maturity.

The following table provides the fair value measurement hierarchy of the Group’s financial assets and
liabilities recognized as at December 31, 2017 and 2016:

December 31, 2017

Carrying Value

Quoted prices in
active markets

for identical
assets

(Level 1)

Significant offer
observable

inputs
(Level 2)

Significant
unobservable

inputs
(Level 3) Total

Assets
Installment contracts receivables
 (Note 9)

P=58,788,066 P= P= P=62,111,813 P=62,111,813

 AFS financial assets (Note 8) 4,540,583,270 4,506,032,203 34,551,067  4,540,583,270
Liabilities

Interest-bearing loans and
borrowings
(Note 16) 7,529,667,866 6,366,228,222 6,366,228,222

December 31, 2016

Carrying Value

Quoted prices in
active markets for

identical assets
(Level 1)

Significant offer
observable

inputs
(Level 2)

Significant
unobservable

inputs
(Level 3) Total

Assets
Installment contracts receivables
 (Note 9) P=57,009,370 P=– P=– P=60,986,966 P=60,986,966

 AFS financial assets (Note 8) 3,755,018,807 3,723,430,664 31,588,143 3,755,018,807
Liabilities

Interest-bearing loans and
borrowings
(Note 16) 8,645,822,641 – – 7,154,681,869 7,154,681,869

In 2017 and 2016, there were no transfers between Levels of fair value measurements.

Significant increases (decreases) in discount rate would result in significantly higher (lower) fair
value of the installment contracts receivables and interest-bearing loans and borrowings.

Description of significant unobservable inputs to valuation:

Account Valuation Technique Significant Unobservable Inputs
Installment contracts receivables Discounted cash flow analysis Discount rate
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings Discounted cash flow analysis Discount rate

Significant increases (decreases) in discount rate would result in significantly higher (lower) fair
value of the installment contracts receivables and interest-bearing loans and borrowings.
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27. Financial Assets and Liabilities

Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies

Financial risk
The Group’s principal financial liabilities comprise of interest-bearing loans and borrowings, trade
and other payables (except for deferred output VAT and other statutory obligations), dividends
payable, payable to related parties and liability for purchased land.  The main purpose of the Group’s
financial liabilities is to raise financing for the Group’s operations.  The Group has various financial
assets such as installment contracts receivables, cash and AFS financial assets which arise directly
from its operations.  The main risks arising from the use of financial instruments are interest rate risk,
equity price risk, foreign currency risk and liquidity risk.

The BOD reviews and approves with policies for managing each of these risks.  The Group monitors
market price risk arising from all financial instruments and regularly report financial management
activities and the results of these activities to the BOD.

The Group’s risk management policies are summarized below.  The exposure to risk and how they
arise, as well as the Group’s objectives, policies and processes for managing the risk and the methods
used to measure the risk did not change from prior years.

Interest rate risk
The Group’s exposure to market risk for changes in interest rates, relates primarily to its financial
assets and liabilities that are interest-bearing.

The Group’s policy is to manage its interest cost by entering into fixed rate debts.  The Group also
regularly enters into short-term loans as it relates to its sold installment contracts receivables in order
to cushion the impact of potential increase in loan interest rates.

The table below shows the financial assets and liabilities that are interest-bearing:

December 31, 2017 December 31, 2016
Effective

Interest Rate Amount
Effective

Interest Rate Amount
Financial assets
Fixed rate
Cash* (Note 7) 1.00% to 2.00% P=572,016,219 1.20% to 2.00% P=427,886,299
Installment contracts receivable (Note 9) 18.00% to 19.00% 58,788,066 12.00% to 20.00% 57,009,370

P=630,804,285 P=484,895,669

Financial liabilities
Fixed rate
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings

(Note 16) 5.46% to 7.25% P=7,529,667,866 5.46% to 7.25% P=8,645,822,641
* Excluding cash on hand

As at December 31, 2017 and 2016, the Group’s income and operating cash flows are substantially
independent of changes in market interest rates.
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Equity Price Risk
The Group's equity price risk exposure relates to financial assets whose values will fluctuate as a
result of changes in market prices, principally its investment in quoted equity securities and
investment in mutual funds classified as AFS financial assets.  Such securities are subject to price risk
due to possible adverse changes in market values of instruments arising from factors specific to
individual instruments or their issuers or factors affecting all instruments traded in the market.

In 2017 and 2016, the Group determined the reasonably possible change in index using the specific
adjusted data for each equity security the Group holds as of the reporting dates.  The adjusted data is
the forecasted measure of the volatility of security or a portfolio in comparison to the market as a
whole.

The analysis below is performed for reasonably possible movements in the close share price of the
underlying equity security and net asset value (NAV) per share of the investment in mutual funds
with all other variables held constant, showing the impact on equity (that reflects adjustments due to
changes in fair value of AFS financial assets):

Impact on Equity
2017 2016

Change in share price
+1.00% P=45,092,334 P=37,266,348
-1.00% (45,092,334) (30,088,329)

Change in NAV
+1.00% P=345,511 P=315,881
-1.00% (345,511) (315,881)

Foreign exchange risk
Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates.  Exposure to foreign currency risk arises
mainly when financial assets, financial liabilities, and forecasted transactions are denominated in a
currency other than the Group’s local currency or will be denominated in such a currency in the
planned course of business.  The principal foreign currency risk to which the Group is exposed
involves the US Dollar (US$).  Foreign currency risk is monitored and analyzed systematically and is
managed by the Group.

The Group’s foreign exchange risk from fluctuation of exchange rate is mainly on the Parent
Company’s cash in bank in 2016.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in the US dollar
exchange rate, with all other variables held constant, of the Group’s 2016 profit before tax (due to
changes in the fair value of monetary assets and liabilities) as at December 31, 2016.

Currency
Increase (decrease)

in US dollar rate
Effect on income (loss)

before income tax
2016 US$ 0.45% (P=6,917)

-0.45% 6,917

There are no items that are affected with foreign exchange risk which are charged directly to equity.
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Credit risk
The Group transacts only with recognized and creditworthy entities under common control and third
parties.  The Group’s receivables are monitored on an ongoing basis resulting to manageable
exposure to bad debts.  Lessee and real estate buyers are subject to standard credit check procedures,
which are calibrated based on the payment scheme offered.  The Group’s respective credit
management units conduct a comprehensive credit investigation and evaluation of each lessee and
buyer to establish creditworthiness.

Credit risk arising from rental income from leasing properties is primarily managed through a tenant
selection process.  Prospective tenants are evaluated on the basis of payment track record and other
credit information.  In accordance with provision of lease contracts, the lessees are required to deposit
with the Group security deposits and advance rentals which help reduce the Group’s credit risk
exposure in case of defaults by the tenants.

With respect to credit risk arising from the other financial assets of the Group, which are comprised
of cash and AFS financial assets, the Group’s exposure to credit risk arises from default of the
counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying amount of these instruments.  The
Group manages its cash by maintaining cash accounts with banks which have demonstrated financial
soundness for several years.

The table below shows the comparative summary of maximum credit risk exposure on financial
assets as at December 31, 2017 and 2016:

December 31, 2017
Maximum

Credit Exposure
Fair Value of

Collateral
Net Exposure to

Credit Risk
Financial

Effect
Loans and Receivables

Cash* (Note 7)  P=572,016,219  P=  P=572,016,219 P=
Receivables** (Note 9) 5,105,674,348 5,105,674,348
Installment contracts receivables
   (Note 9)   58,788,066 101,276,796
Receivable from related parties
   (Note 23) 4,922,649,163 4,922,649,163

 10,659,127,796  101,276,796 10,600,339,730  
AFS Financial Assets (Note 8)

Investments in mutual funds  34,551,067  34,551,067
Investments in quoted equity shares  4,506,032,203  4,506,032,203
Investments in unquoted equity shares  3,204,170  3,204,170

4,543,787,440 4,543,787,440
 P=15,202,915,236  P=101,276,796  P=15,144,127,170 P=

* Excluding cash on hand
** Excluding installment contracts receivables and advances to contractors and suppliers
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December 31, 2016
Maximum

Credit Exposure
Fair Value of

Collateral
Net Exposure to

Credit Risk
Financial

Effect
Loans and Receivables

Cash* (Note 7)  P=427,886,299  P=  P=427,886,299 P=
Receivables** (Note 9)  3,649,893,475 3,649,893,475
Installment contracts receivables
   (Note 9)  57,009,370  99,498,100
Receivable from related parties
   (Note 23) 3,112,669,077 3,112,669,077

7,247,458,221 99,498,100 7,190,448,851
AFS Financial Assets (Note 8)

Investments in mutual funds  31,588,143  31,588,143
Investments in quoted equity shares  3,723,430,664  3,723,430,664
Investments in unquoted equity shares  3,204,170  3,204,170

3,758,222,977 3,758,222,977
P=11,005,681,198 P=99,498,100 P=10,948,671,828 P=

* Excluding cash on hand
** Excluding installment contracts receivables and advances to contractors and suppliers



- 5
4 

-

*
S
G
V
F
S
0
2
9
8
6
5
*

G
iv

en
 th

e 
G

ro
up

’s
 d

iv
er

se
 b

as
e 

of
 c

ou
nt

er
pa

rti
es

, i
t i

s n
ot

 e
xp

os
ed

 to
 la

rg
e 

co
nc

en
tra

tio
ns

 o
f c

re
di

t r
isk

.  
A

s a
t D

ec
em

be
r 3

1,
 2

01
7 

an
d 

20
16

, t
he

 a
gi

ng
an

al
ys

es
 o

f p
as

t d
ue

 b
ut

 n
ot

 im
pa

ire
d 

re
ce

iv
ab

le
s,

 p
re

se
nt

ed
 p

er
 c

la
ss

 a
re

 a
s 

fo
llo

w
s:

D
ec

em
be

r 
31

, 2
01

7
N

ei
th

er
 P

as
t

T
ot

al
 o

f P
as

t
Im

pa
ir

ed
D

ue
 N

or
Pa

st
 D

ue
 B

ut
 N

ot
 I

m
pa

ir
ed

D
ue

 B
ut

 N
ot

Fi
na

nc
ia

l
Im

pa
ir

ed
<3

0 
da

ys
30

-6
0 

da
ys

60
-9

0 
da

ys
>9

0 
da

ys
Im

pa
ir

ed
A

ss
et

s
T

ot
al

R
ec

ei
va

bl
es

* 
(N

ot
e 

9)
P=1

,9
74

,9
66

,5
97

P=4
26

,0
12

,3
46

 P=
44

,8
48

,0
60

 P=
28

,7
42

,5
99

 P=
2,

63
1,

10
4,

74
6

 P=
3,

13
0,

70
7,

75
1

 P=
55

,2
66

,7
21

 P=
5,

16
0,

94
1,

06
9

In
st

al
lm

en
t c

on
tra

ct
 re

ce
iv

ab
le

s (
N

ot
e 

9)
58

,7
88

,0
66

58
,7

88
,0

66
R

ec
ei

va
bl

es
 fr

om
 re

la
te

d 
pa

rti
es

4,
92

2,
64

9,
16

3
4,

92
2,

64
9,

16
3

To
ta

l
P=6

,9
56

,4
03

,8
26

P=4
26

,0
12

,3
46

P=4
4,

84
8,

06
0

P=2
8,

74
2,

59
9

P=2
,6

31
,1

04
,7

46
P=3

,1
30

,7
07

,7
51

P=5
5,

26
6,

72
1

P=1
0,

14
2,

37
8,

29
8

* 
Ex

cl
ud

in
g 

in
st

al
lm

en
t c

on
tr

ac
ts

 re
ce

iv
ab

le
s a

nd
 a

dv
an

ce
s t

o 
co

nt
ra

ct
or

s a
nd

 su
pp

lie
rs

D
ec

em
be

r 3
1,

 2
01

6
N

ei
th

er
 P

as
t

To
ta

l o
f P

as
t

Im
pa

ire
d

D
ue

 N
or

Pa
st

 D
ue

 B
ut

 N
ot

 Im
pa

ire
d

D
ue

 B
ut

 N
ot

Fi
na

nc
ia

l
Im

pa
ire

d
<3

0 
da

ys
30

-6
0 

da
ys

60
-9

0 
da

ys
>9

0 
da

ys
Im

pa
ire

d
A

ss
et

s
To

ta
l

R
ec

ei
va

bl
es

* 
(N

ot
e 

9)
 P=

1,
35

3,
11

2,
91

7
 P=

48
6,

22
9,

58
0

 P=
70

,3
19

,6
12

 P=
33

,0
90

,6
18

 P=
1,

75
8,

72
4,

12
5

 P=
2,

34
8,

36
3,

93
5

 P=
51

,5
83

,3
77

 P=
3,

75
3,

06
0,

22
9

In
st

al
lm

en
t c

on
tra

ct
 re

ce
iv

ab
le

s (
N

ot
e 

9)
57

,0
09

,3
70

57
,0

09
,3

70
R

ec
ei

va
bl

es
 fr

om
 re

la
te

d 
pa

rti
es

3,
11

2,
66

9,
07

7
3,

11
2,

66
9,

07
7

To
ta

l
P=4

,5
22

,7
91

,3
64

P=4
86

,2
29

,5
80

P=7
0,

31
9,

61
2

P=3
3,

09
0,

61
8

P=1
,7

58
,7

24
,1

25
P=2

,3
48

,3
63

,9
35

P=5
1,

58
3,

37
7

P=6
,9

22
,7

38
,6

76
* 

Ex
cl

ud
in

g 
in

st
al

lm
en

t c
on

tr
ac

ts
 re

ce
iv

ab
le

s a
nd

 a
dv

an
ce

s t
o 

co
nt

ra
ct

or
s a

nd
 su

pp
lie

rs

Th
os

e 
ac

co
un

ts 
th

at
 a

re
 c

on
si

de
re

d 
ne

ith
er

 p
as

t d
ue

 n
or

 im
pa

ire
d 

ar
e 

re
ce

iv
ab

le
s 

w
ith

ou
t a

ny
 d

ef
au

lt 
in

 p
ay

m
en

ts 
an

d 
th

os
e 

ac
co

un
ts 

w
he

re
in

 th
e

m
an

ag
em

en
t h

as
 a

ss
es

se
d 

th
at

 re
co

ve
ra

bi
lit

y 
is 

hi
gh

.



- 5
5 

-

*
S
G
V
F
S
0
2
9
8
6
5
*

Th
e 

ta
bl

es
 b

el
ow

 sh
ow

 th
e 

cr
ed

it 
qu

al
ity

 o
f t

he
 G

ro
up

’s
 fi

na
nc

ia
l a

ss
et

s a
s a

t D
ec

em
be

r 3
1,

 2
01

7 
an

d 
20

16
, g

ro
ss

 o
f a

llo
w

an
ce

 fo
r i

m
pa

irm
en

t l
os

se
s:

D
ec

em
be

r 
31

, 2
01

7
N

ei
th

er
 p

as
t d

ue
 n

or
 im

pa
ir

ed
Pa

st
 d

ue
 b

ut
H

ig
h 

gr
ad

e
M

ed
iu

m
 g

ra
de

L
ow

 g
ra

de
T

ot
al

no
t i

m
pa

ir
ed

Im
pa

ir
ed

T
ot

al
L

oa
ns

 a
nd

 R
ec

ei
va

bl
es

Ca
sh

* 
(N

ot
e 

7)
P=5

72
,0

16
,2

19
P=

P=
P=5

72
,0

16
,2

19
P=

P=
P=5

72
,0

16
,2

19
R

ec
ei

va
bl

es
**

 (N
ot

e 
9)

1,
97

4,
96

6,
59

7
1,

97
4,

96
6,

59
7

3,
13

0,
70

7,
75

1
55

,2
66

,7
21

5,
16

0,
94

1,
06

9
In

st
al

lm
en

t c
on

tra
ct

 re
ce

iv
ab

le
s (

N
ot

e 
9)

58
,7

88
,0

66
58

,7
88

,0
66

58
,7

88
,0

66
R

ec
ei

va
bl

e 
fro

m
 re

la
te

d 
pa

rti
es

 (N
ot

e 
23

)
4,

92
2,

64
9,

16
3

4,
92

2,
64

9,
16

3
4,

92
2,

64
9,

16
3

57
2,

01
6,

21
9

6,
95

6,
40

3,
82

6
7,

52
8,

42
0,

04
5

3,
13

0,
70

7,
75

1
55

,2
66

,7
21

10
,7

14
,3

94
,5

17
A

FS
 F

in
an

ci
al

 A
ss

et
s(

N
ot

e 
8)

In
ve

st
m

en
ts 

in
 m

ut
ua

l f
un

ds
34

,5
51

,0
67

34
,5

51
,0

67
34

,5
51

,0
67

In
ve

st
m

en
ts 

in
 q

uo
te

d 
eq

ui
ty

 sh
ar

es
 4

,5
06

,0
32

,2
03

 
4,

50
6,

03
2,

20
3

4,
50

6,
03

2,
20

3
In

ve
st

m
en

ts 
in

 u
nq

uo
te

d 
eq

ui
ty

 sh
ar

es
 3

,2
04

,1
70

3,
20

4,
17

0
3,

20
4,

17
0

4,
54

3,
78

7,
44

0
4,

54
3,

78
7,

44
0

4,
54

3,
78

7,
44

0
P=5

,1
15

,8
03

,6
59

P=6
,9

56
,4

03
,8

26
P=

P=1
2,

07
2,

20
7,

48
5

P=3
,1

30
,7

07
,7

51
P=5

5,
26

6,
72

1
P=1

5,
25

8,
18

1,
95

7
* 

Ex
cl

ud
in

g 
ca

sh
 o

n 
ha

nd
**

 E
xc

lu
di

ng
 in

st
al

lm
en

t c
on

tr
ac

ts
 re

ce
iv

ab
le

s a
nd

 a
dv

an
ce

s t
o 

co
nt

ra
ct

or
s a

nd
 su

pp
lie

rs

D
ec

em
be

r 3
1,

 2
01

6
N

ei
th

er
 p

as
t d

ue
 n

or
 im

pa
ire

d
Pa

st 
du

e 
bu

t
H

ig
h 

gr
ad

e
M

ed
iu

m
 g

ra
de

Lo
w

 g
ra

de
To

ta
l

no
t i

m
pa

ire
d

Im
pa

ire
d

To
ta

l
L

oa
ns

 a
nd

 R
ec

ei
va

bl
es

Ca
sh

* 
(N

ot
e 

7)
P=4

27
,8

86
,2

99
P=

P=
P=4

27
,8

86
,2

99
P=

P=
P=4

27
,8

86
,2

99
R

ec
ei

va
bl

es
**

 (N
ot

e 
9)

1,
35

3,
11

2,
91

7
1,

35
3,

11
2,

91
7

2,
34

8,
36

3,
93

5
51

,5
83

,3
77

3,
75

3,
06

0,
22

9
In

st
al

lm
en

t c
on

tra
ct

 re
ce

iv
ab

le
s (

N
ot

e 
9)

57
,0

09
,3

70
57

,0
09

,3
70

57
,0

09
,3

70
R

ec
ei

va
bl

e 
fro

m
 re

la
te

d 
pa

rti
es

 (N
ot

e 
23

)
3,

11
2,

66
9,

07
7

3,
11

2,
66

9,
07

7
3,

11
2,

66
9,

07
7

42
7,

88
6,

29
9

4,
52

2,
79

1,
36

4
4,

95
0,

67
7,

66
3

2,
34

8,
36

3,
93

5
51

,5
83

,3
77

7,
35

0,
62

4,
97

5
A

FS
 F

in
an

ci
al

 A
ss

et
s(

N
ot

e 
8)

In
ve

st
m

en
ts 

in
 m

ut
ua

l f
un

ds
31

,5
88

,1
43

31
,5

88
,1

43
31

,5
88

,1
43

In
ve

st
m

en
ts 

in
 q

uo
te

d 
eq

ui
ty

 sh
ar

es
3,

72
3,

43
0,

66
4

3,
72

3,
43

0,
66

4
3,

72
3,

43
0,

66
4

In
ve

st
m

en
ts 

in
 u

nq
uo

te
d 

eq
ui

ty
 sh

ar
es

3,
20

4,
17

0
3,

20
4,

17
0

3,
20

4,
17

0
3,

75
8,

22
2,

97
7

3,
75

8,
22

2,
97

7
3,

75
8,

22
2,

97
7

P=4
,1

86
,1

09
,2

76
P=4

,5
22

,7
91

,3
64

P=
P=8

,7
08

,9
00

,6
40

P=2
,3

48
,3

63
,9

35
P=5

1,
58

3,
37

7
P=1

1,
10

8,
84

7,
95

2
* 

Ex
cl

ud
in

g 
ca

sh
 o

n 
ha

nd
**

 E
xc

lu
di

ng
 in

st
al

lm
en

t c
on

tr
ac

ts
 re

ce
iv

ab
le

s a
nd

 a
dv

an
ce

s t
o 

co
nt

ra
ct

or
s a

nd
 su

pp
lie

rs



- 56 -

*SGVFS029865*

High grade cash and cash equivalents and short-term and long-term cash investments are money
market placements and working cash fund placed, invested or deposited in local banks belonging to
the top ten banks in the Philippines in terms of resources and profitability.

The Group’s high-grade receivables pertain to receivables from related parties and third parties
which, based on experience, are highly collectible or collectible on demand, and of which exposure to
bad debt is not significant.

Medium grade accounts are active accounts with minimal to regular instances of payment default, due
to ordinary/common collection issues.  These accounts are typically not impaired as the
counterparties generally respond to credit actions and update their payments accordingly.

Low grade accounts are accounts which have probability of impairment based on historical trend.

Based on the Group’s experience, its loans and receivables are highly collectible or collectible on
demand.  In respect of trade receivables, the Group is exposed to a significant credit risk exposure to
a single counter party having similar characteristic.  This is the Group’s trade receivable from related
party tenants, the All Value Group wherein the outstanding balance is guaranteed for collection by
All Value Group parent company, Fine Properties, Inc.  Trade receivables consist of a large number
of lessee and buyers in various industries and geographical areas.  Based on historical information
about lessee and buyer default rates, management considers the credit quality of trade receivables that
are not past due or impaired to be good.  The trade receivables from tenants are covered by security
deposit and advance rental.

The installment contract receivables are collateralized by the corresponding real estate properties.  In
few cases of buyer defaults, the Group can repossess the collateralized properties and held it for sale
in the ordinary course of business at the prevailing market price.  The total of repossessed properties
included in the “Real estate properties for sale” account in the consolidated statements of financial
position amounted to P=0.11 million and P=0.62 million as of December 31, 2017 and 2016,
respectively.  The Group performs certain repair activities on the said repossessed assets in order to
put their condition at a marketable state.  Costs incurred in bringing the repossessed assets to its
marketable state are included in their carrying amounts.

The Group did not accrue any interest income on impaired financial assets.

Liquidity Risk
The Group monitors its cash flow position, debt maturity profile and overall liquidity position in
assessing its exposure to liquidity risk.  The Group maintains a level of cash deemed sufficient to
finance its cash requirements. Operating expenses and working capital requirements are sufficiently
funded through cash collections.  The Group’s loan maturity profile is regularly reviewed to ensure
availability of funding through adequate credit facilities with banks and other financial institutions.

The extent and nature of exposures to liquidity risk and how they arise as well as the Group’s
objectives, policies and processes for managing the risk and the methods used to measure the risk are
the same for 2017 and 2016.
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Maturity Profile of Financial Assets and Liabilities
The tables below summarize the maturity profile of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities as at
December 31, 2017 and 2016 based on undiscounted contractual payments, including interest
receivable and payable.

December 31, 2017

On Demand
1 to

3 Months
3 to

12 Months
More than

1 year Total
Financial Assets
Loans and receivables

Cash* P=572,016,219 P=– P=– P=– 572,016,219
Receivables** 1,919,699,876 499,603,006 2,686,371,466  5,105,674,348
Installment contracts receivables 47,057,235 – – 11,730,831 58,788,066
Receivable from related parties 4,754,557,162 168,092,001 4,922,649,163

AFS Financial Assets
Investments mutual funds 34,551,067 – – – 34,551,067
Investments in quoted equity securities  – – – 4,506,032,203 4,506,032,203
Investments in unquoted equity

securities  – – – 3,204,170 3,204,170

P=7,327,881,559 P=499,603,006 P=2,686,371,466 P=4,689,059,205 P=15,202,915,236
Financial Liabilities
Other financial liabilities

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 411,519,486 1,190,463,491 5,927,684,889 7,529,667,866
Trade and other payables***  1,815,440,605 727,182,361 2,542,622,966
Liability for purchased land P=210,706,578 366,991,175 244,714,560 822,412,313
Payables to related parties 11,914,371,125 11,914,371,125

P=11,914,371,125 P=622,226,064 P=3,372,895,271 P=6,899,581,810 P=22,809,074,270
* Excluding cash on hand
** Excluding installment contracts receivables and advances to contractors and suppliers
*** Excluding deferred output VAT and including noncurrent portion of security deposit, retention payable and construction bonds

December 31, 2016

On Demand
1 to

3 Months
3 to

12 Months
More than

1 year Total
Financial Assets
Loans and receivables

Cash*  P=427,886,299 P=– P=– P=– P=427,886,299
Receivables**  1,301,529,540 589,639,810 1,758,724,125  3,649,893,475
Installment contracts receivables  – – 46,580,495 10,428,875 57,009,370
Receivable from related parties 3,112,669,077 – –  3,112,669,077

AFS Financial Assets
Investments mutual funds 31,588,143 – – – 31,588,143
Investments in quoted equity securities  – – – 3,723,430,664 3,723,430,664
Investments in unquoted equity

securities  – – – 3,204,170 3,204,170
P=4,873,673,059 P=589,639,810 P=1,805,304,620 P=3,737,063,709 P=11,005,681,198

Financial Liabilities
Other financial liabilities

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings  1,596,831,058 7,048,991,583 8,645,822,641
Trade and other payables***  1,547,965,825 608,048,889 2,156,014,714
Liability for purchased land 79,644,720 222,641,520 302,286,240
Payables to related parties 5,248,926,769 391,593,844  5,640,520,613

P=5,248,926,769 P=  P=3,616,035,447 P=7,879,681,992 P=16,744,644,208
* Excluding cash on hand
** Excluding installment contracts receivables and advances to contractors and suppliers
*** Excluding deferred output VAT and including noncurrent portion of security deposit, retention payable and construction bonds
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28. Lease Commitments

The Group as Lessor
The Group has entered into non-cancellable property leases on its investment property portfolio,
consisting of retail mall spaces and BPO commercial centers which generally provide for either
(a) fixed monthly rent, or (b) minimum rent or a certain percentage of gross revenue, whichever is
higher.  All leases include a clause to enable upward revision of the rental charge on an annual basis
based on prevailing market conditions.

Future minimum rentals receivable under non-cancellable operating leases as of December 31, 2017
and 2016 follow:

2017 2016
Less than one year P=2,642,854,364 P=2,142,993,018
Between one and five years 9,909,201,900 8,561,900,197
More than five years 5,199,202,017 7,002,260,095

P=17,751,258,281 P=17,707,153,310

Contingent rent included in rental income for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015
amounted to P=570.25 million, P=401.32 million and P=221.23 million, respectively.

The Group as Lessee
The Group leases a parcel of land from LECA Properties, Inc. (LECA) where WCC is situated for an
original period of 25 years commencing on August 1, 1995 until July 31, 2020 with rental escalation
every year at an agreed rate ranging from P=44.20 to P=44.89 per square meter.  The lease contract
includes a clause that the lessee shall be responsible for all real property taxes, assessments or
charges on the improvements on the leased property.

On August 25, 2010, Manuela executed a Memorandum of Agreement (MOA) whereby LECA
agreed to a reduction of the amount of outstanding rentals and arrearages and set a schedule of
payment of the agreed amount.  Furthermore, on the same MOA, LECA agreed for an extension of
the term of the original lease, for an addition 10 years from the expiration of the original lease period,
under the same terms and conditions, except as to the rate of rentals which the parties shall agree
prior to the expiration of the original lease term.

Also, the Group is a lessee under various operating leases covering parcels of land where some on-
going mall projects are being constructed.  These leases have terms ranging from 20 to 25 years, with
rental escalation clauses and renewal options.

Future minimum rentals payable under non-cancellable operating leases as of December 31, 2017 and
2016 follow:

2017 2016
Less than one year P=134,184,111 P=119,351,440
Between one and five years 659,452,299 620,183,884
More than five years 1,679,928,540 1,853,381,067

P=2,473,564,950 P=2,592,916,391
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29. Notes to Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Details of the movement in cash flows from financing activities follow:

Non-cash Change

December 31,
2016 Cash Flows

Amortization
of Debt Issue

Cost

Foreign
exchange

movement
Fair value

changes
December 31,

2017
Payables to related
     parties P=391,593,844 P=6,665,444,356 P= P= P=  P=5,248,926,769
Dividends payable 313,216 (310,114,204) 275,118
Interest-bearing loans
     and borrowings 8,645,822,641 (1,137,303,285) 21,148,510  7,529,667,866
Total liabilities from
     financing activities P=9,037,729,701 P=5,260,323,887 P=21,148,510 P= P=  P=12,778,869,753

The Group’s noncash investing and financing activities pertain to the following:

a) As at December 31, 2017, unpaid investment properties amounted to P=469.92 million.
b) As at December 31, 2017, unpaid property and equipment amounted to P=4.07 million.
c) In 2016, the Group cancelled a 2014 land acquisition amounting P=285.20 million.
d) In 2016, pension liability amounting to P=13.22 million was transferred to a related party.
e) Transfers from property and equipment to investment property amounting to P=4.31 million in

2015.  There are no transfers in 2016 and 2017.

The Group made certain reclassifications to the consolidated statements of cash flows for 2016 and
2015 to align with 2017 classification.  Movements in receivables from related parties and liability for
purchased land were transferred to investing activities from operating activities while interest
received and interest paid were moved to operating activities from investing and financing activities.
Below is the summary of movements:

December 31, 2016
Previous balance Reclassification Revised balance

Net cash flows provided by (used in):
Operating activities P=1,342,537,644 (P=1,297,528,088) P=45,009,556
Investing activities (3,194,275,357) 652,220,467 (2,542,054,890)
Financing activities 1,271,920,239 645,307,621 1,917,227,860

December 31, 2015
Previous balance Reclassification Revised balance

Net cash flows provided by (used in):
Operating activities P=1,778,698,630 (P=988,031,688) P=790,666,942
Investing activities (6,919,660,101) 784,598,845 (6,135,061,256)
Financing activities 4,187,898,945 203,432,843 4,391,331,788

30. Approval of the Financial Statements

The consolidated financial statements of the Group as of December 31, 2017 and 2016 and for each
of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2017 were authorized for issue by the BOD on
March 27, 2018.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
ON THE SUPPLEMENTARY SCHEDULES

The Stockholders and the Board of Directors
Starmalls, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Lower Ground Floor, Building B
EVIA Lifestyle Center, Vista City
Daanghari, Almanza II, Las Piñas City

We have audited in accordance with Philippine Standards on Auditing the accompanying consolidated
financial statements of Starmalls, Inc. and its subsidiaries (the Group) as at December 31, 2017 and 2016
and for the three years in the period ended December 31, 2017, and have issued our report thereon dated
March 27, 2018.  Our audits were made for the purpose of forming an opinion on the basic consolidated
financial statements taken as a whole.  The schedules listed in the Index to the Financial Statements and
Supplementary Schedules are the responsibility of the management of Starmalls, Inc.  These schedules
are presented for purposes of complying with Securities Regulation Code Rule No. 68, As Amended
(2011) and are not part of the consolidated financial statements.  The schedules have been subjected to the
auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic consolidated financial statements.  In our opinion, the
information are fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the consolidated financial statements
taken as a whole.

SYCIP GORRES VELAYO & CO.

Cyril Jasmin B. Valencia
Partner
CPA Certificate No. 90787
SEC Accreditation No. 1229-AR-1 (Group A),
 May 12, 2015, valid until May 11, 2018
Tax Identification No. 162-410-623
BIR Accreditation No. 08-001998-74-2018,
 February 26, 2018, valid until February 25, 2021
PTR No. 6621337, January 9, 2018, Makati City

March 27, 2018

SyCip Gorres Velayo & Co.
6760 Ayala Avenue
1226 Makati City
Philippines

Tel: (632) 891 0307
Fax: (632) 819 0872
ey.com/ph

BOA/PRC Reg. No. 0001,
   December 14, 2015, valid until December 31, 2018
SEC Accreditation No. 0012-FR-4 (Group A),
   November 10, 2015, valid until November 9, 2018

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited



STARMALLS, INC.
SUPPLEMENTARY SCHEDULE OF RETAINED EARNINGS
AVAILABLE FOR DIVIDEND DECLARATION
December 31, 2017

Unappropriated Retained Earnings, as adjusted to
available for dividend distribution, beginning  P=2,234,545,161

Net income actually earned/realized during the period
Net loss during the period closed to retained earnings (10,010,996)
Less: Non-actual/unrealized income net of tax

Equity in net income of associate/joint venture
Unrealized foreign exchange gain - net (except those

attributable to Cash and Cash Equivalents)
Unrealized actuarial gain
Fair value adjustment (M2M gains)
Fair value adjustment of Investment Property resulting to

gain
Adjustment due to deviation from PFRS/GAAP-gain
Other unrealized gains or adjustments to the retained

earnings as a result of certain transactions accounted
for under the PFRS

Add: Non-actual losses
Depreciation on revaluation increment (after tax)
Adjustment due to deviation from PFRS/GAAP-loss
Loss on fair value adjustment of investment property

(after tax)
Net income actually earned during the period (10,010,996)

Add (Less):
Dividend declarations during the period (310,076,106)
Appropriations of retained earnings during the period
Reversals of appropriations
Effects of prior period adjustments
Treasury shares

TOTAL RETAINED EARNINGS, END
AVAILABLE FOR DIVIDEND DECLARATION P=1,914,458,059



STARMALLS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
SCHEDULE OF ALL THE EFFECTIVE STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS
[which consist of PFRSs, Philippine Accounting Standards (PASs) and Philippine Interpretations] effective as
of December 31, 2017:

Below is the list of all effective PFRS, Philippine Accounting Standards (PAS) and Philippine Interpretations of
International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) as of December 31, 2017:

PHILIPPINE FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS AND
INTERPRETATIONS
Effective as of December 31, 2017

Adopted Not
Adopted

Not
Applicable

Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial
Statements
Conceptual Framework Phase A: Objectives and qualitative characteristics

PFRSs Practice Statement Management Commentary

Philippine Financial Reporting Standards

PFRS 1
(Revised)

First-time Adoption of Philippine Financial Reporting
Standards

Amendments to PFRS 1 and PAS 27: Cost of an Investment
in a Subsidiary, Jointly Controlled Entity or Associate

Amendments to PFRS 1: Additional Exemptions for First-
time Adopters

Amendment to PFRS 1: Limited Exemption from
Comparative PFRS 7 Disclosures for First-time Adopters

Amendments to PFRS 1: Severe Hyperinflation and
Removal of Fixed Date for First-time Adopters

Amendments to PFRS 1: Government Loans

PFRS 2 Share-based Payment

Amendments to PFRS 2: Vesting Conditions and
Cancellations

Amendments to PFRS 2: Group Cash-settled Share-based
Payment Transactions

PFRS 3
(Revised) Business Combinations

PFRS 4 Insurance Contracts

Amendments to PAS 39 and PFRS 4: Financial Guarantee
Contracts

PFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued
Operations

Amendment to PFRS 5, Changes in Methods of Disposal

PFRS 6 Exploration for and Evaluation of Mineral Resources



- 2 -

PHILIPPINE FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS AND
INTERPRETATIONS
Effective as of December 31, 2017

Adopted Not
Adopted

Not
Applicable

PFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures

Amendments to PAS 39 and PFRS 7: Reclassification of
Financial Assets

Amendments to PAS 39 and PFRS 7: Reclassification of
Financial Assets - Effective Date and Transition

Amendments to PFRS 7: Improving Disclosures about
Financial Instruments

Amendments to PFRS 7: Disclosures - Transfers of Financial
Assets

Amendments to PFRS 7: Disclosures - Offsetting Financial
Assets and Financial Liabilities

Amendments to PFRS 7: Mandatory Effective Date of PFRS
9 and Transition Disclosures

Amendment to PFRS 7, Servicing Contracts

Amendment to PFRS 7, Applicability of the Amendments to
PFRS 7 to Condensed Interim Financial Statements

PFRS 8 Operating Segments

PFRS 9 Financial Instruments*

Amendments to PFRS 9: Mandatory Effective Date of PFRS
9 and Transition Disclosures*

PFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements

Amendments to PFRS 10, PFRS 12 and PAS 28, Investment
Entities: Applying the Consolidation Exception

PFRS 11 Joint Arrangements

Amendments to PFRS 11, Accounting for Acquisitions of
Interests in Joint Operations

PFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities

Amendments to PFRS 10, PFRS 12 and PAS 28, Investment
Entities: Applying the Consolidation Exception

PFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement

PFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts
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PHILIPPINE FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS AND
INTERPRETATIONS
Effective as of December 31, 2017

Adopted Not
Adopted

Not
Applicable

Philippine Accounting Standards

PAS 1
(Revised)

Presentation of Financial Statements

Amendment to PAS 1: Capital Disclosures

Amendments to PAS 32 and PAS 1: Puttable Financial
Instruments and Obligations Arising on Liquidation

Amendments to PAS 1: Presentation of Items of Other
Comprehensive Income

Amendments to PAS 1, Disclosure Initiative

PAS 2 Inventories

PAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows

PAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and
Errors

PAS 10 Events after the Reporting Period

PAS 11 Construction Contracts

PAS 12 Income Taxes

Amendment to PAS 12 - Deferred Tax: Recovery of
Underlying Assets

PAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment

Amendments to PAS 16 and PAS 38, Clarification of
Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and Amortization

Amendments to PAS 16 and PAS 41, Agriculture: Bearer
Plants

PAS 17 Leases

PAS 18 Revenue

PAS 19 Employee Benefits

Amendments to PAS 19: Actuarial Gains and Losses, Group
Plans and Disclosures

Amendments to PAS 19: Discount Rate: Regional Market
Issue

PAS 19
(Amended)

Employee Benefits

PAS 20 Accounting for Government Grants and Disclosure of
Government Assistance

PAS 21 The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates

Amendment: Net Investment in a Foreign Operation

PAS 23
(Revised)

Borrowing Costs



- 4 -

PHILIPPINE FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS AND
INTERPRETATIONS
Effective as of December 31, 2017

Adopted Not
Adopted

Not
Applicable

PAS 24
(Revised)

Related Party Disclosures

PAS 26 Accounting and Reporting by Retirement Benefit Plans

PAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements

PAS 27
(Amended)

Separate Financial Statements

Amendments to PAS 27, Equity Method in Separate
Financial Statements

PAS 28 Investments in Associates

Amendments to PFRS 10, PFRS 12 and PAS 28, Investment
Entities: Applying the Consolidation Exception

PAS 28
(Amended)

Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures*

PAS 29 Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies

PAS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures

PAS 32 Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation

Amendments to PAS 32 and PAS 1: Puttable Financial
Instruments and Obligations Arising on Liquidation

Amendment to PAS 32: Classification of Rights Issues

Amendments to PAS 32: Offsetting Financial Assets and
Financial Liabilities*

PAS 33 Earnings per Share

PAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting

Amendment to PAS 34, Disclosure of Information
‘Elsewhere in the Interim Financial Report’

PAS 36 Impairment of Assets

PAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets

PAS 38 Intangible Assets

Amendments to PAS 16 and PAS 38, Clarification of
Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and Amortization



- 5 -

PHILIPPINE FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS AND
INTERPRETATIONS
Effective as of December 31, 2017

Adopted Not
Adopted

Not
Applicable

PAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement

Amendments to PAS 39: Transition and Initial Recognition
of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities

Amendments to PAS 39: Cash Flow Hedge Accounting of
Forecast Intragroup Transactions

Amendments to PAS 39: The Fair Value Option

Amendments to PAS 39 and PFRS 4: Financial Guarantee
Contracts

Amendments to PAS 39 and PFRS 7: Reclassification of
Financial Assets

Amendments to PAS 39 and PFRS 7: Reclassification of
Financial Assets - Effective Date and Transition

Amendments to Philippine Interpretation IFRIC-9 and PAS
39: Embedded Derivatives

Amendment to PAS 39: Eligible Hedged Items

PAS 40 Investment Property

PAS 41 Agriculture

Amendments to PAS 16 and PAS 41, Agriculture: Bearer
Plants

Philippine Interpretations

IFRIC 1 Changes in Existing Decommissioning, Restoration and
Similar Liabilities

IFRIC 2 Members Share in Co-operative Entities and Similar
Instruments

IFRIC 4 Determining Whether an Arrangement Contains a Lease

IFRIC 5 Rights to Interests arising from Decommissioning,
Restoration and Environmental Rehabilitation Funds

IFRIC 6 Liabilities arising from Participating in a Specific Market -
Waste Electrical and Electronic Equipment

IFRIC 7 Applying the Restatement Approach under PAS 29 Financial
Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies

IFRIC 8 Scope of PFRS 2

IFRIC 9 Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives

Amendments to Philippine Interpretation IFRIC-9 and PAS
39: Embedded Derivatives

IFRIC 10 Interim Financial Reporting and Impairment

IFRIC 11 PFRS 2 - Group and Treasury Share Transactions

IFRIC 12 Service Concession Arrangements

IFRIC 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes



- 6 -

PHILIPPINE FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS AND
INTERPRETATIONS
Effective as of December 31, 2017

Adopted Not
Adopted

Not
Applicable

IFRIC 14 The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding
Requirements and their Interaction

Amendments to Philippine Interpretations IFRIC - 14,
Prepayments of a Minimum Funding Requirement

IFRIC 16 Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation

IFRIC 17 Distributions of Non-cash Assets to Owners

IFRIC 18 Transfers of Assets from Customers

IFRIC 19 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments

IFRIC 20 Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a Surface Mine*

SIC-7 Introduction of the Euro

SIC-10 Government Assistance - No Specific Relation to Operating
Activities

SIC-12 Consolidation - Special Purpose Entities

Amendment to SIC - 12: Scope of SIC 12

SIC-13 Jointly Controlled Entities - Non-Monetary Contributions by
Venturers

SIC-15 Operating Leases - Incentives

SIC-25 Income Taxes - Changes in the Tax Status of an Entity or its
Shareholders

SIC-27 Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving the
Legal Form of a Lease

SIC-29 Service Concession Arrangements: Disclosures

SIC-31 Revenue - Barter Transactions Involving Advertising
Services

SIC-32 Intangible Assets - Web Site Costs

Standards tagged as “Not applicable” have been adopted by the Group but have no significant covered transactions
for the year ended December 31, 2017.

Standards tagged as “Not adopted” are standards issued but not yet effective as of December 31, 2017.  The Group
will adopt the Standards and Interpretations when these become effective.



STARMALLS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
INDEX TO SUPPLEMENTARY SCHEDULES

I. Supplementary schedules required by Annex 68-E

A. Financial Assets (Current Marketable Equity and Debt Securities and Other Short-Term Cash
Investments)

B. Amounts Receivable from Directors, Officers, Employees,
Related Parties and Principal Stockholders (Other than Related Parties)

C. Amounts Receivable from Related Parties which are
Eliminated during the Consolidation of Financial Statements

D. Intangible Assets

E. Long-term Debt

F. Indebtedness to Related Parties

G. Guarantees of Securities of Other Issuers

H. Capital Stock

II. Schedule of all of the effective standards and interpretations (Part 1, 4J)

III. Reconciliation of Retained Earnings Available for Dividend Declaration
(Part 1, 4C; Annex 68-C)

IV. Map of the relationships of the companies within the group (Part 1, 4H)

V. Schedule of Financial Ratios
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STARMALLS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Map showing the relationships between and among the Group and its ultimate parent and its subsidiaries
December 31, 2017:

VISTA LAND & LIFESCAPES,
INC.

88.34 % Owner

MASTERPIECE ASIA
PROPERTIES, INC.
100% Subsidiary

MANUELA CORPORATION
98.36% Subsidiary



STARMALLS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
SCHEDULE OF FINANCIAL RATIOS
DECEMBER 31, 2017

Below are the financial ratios that are relevant to the Group for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016
and 2015.

2017 2016 2015

Current ratio Current assets 0.87 1.06 2.20Current liabilities

Long-term debt-to-
equity ratio

Long-term debt¹ 0.30 0.40 0.59Equity

Debt ratio Interest bearing debt² 0.18 0.25 0.36Total assets

Debt to equity ratio Interest bearing debt² 0.41 0.49 0.67Total equity

Net debt to equity
ratio

Net debt³ 0.38 0.47 0.61Total equity

Asset to equity ratio Total assets 2.20 1.98 1.88Total equity

Interest service
coverage ratio

EBITDA 8.91 5.05 9.04Total interest paid

Asset to liability ratio Total Assets 1.83 2.02 2.14Total Liabilities

¹ Pertains to long term portion of the Liability for Land Acquisition and Interest-bearing Loans and
Borrowings

² Includes Liability for Land Acquisition and Interest-bearing Loans and Borrowings
³ Interest bearing debt less Cash and cash equivalents, Short-term and Long-Term cash investments


